Sanitation in the Context of Planetary Health: Opportunities and Challenges

JENNIFER COLE, PUBLIC HEALTH POLICY ADVISOR

July 2018

ROCKEFELLER FOUNDATION SCHOOL

Report from the Secretariat of the Rockefeller Foundation Economic Council on Planetary Health

What is Planetary Health?

Planetary health addresses the interconnections between the processes of environmental change and their impacts on human health and well-being, at scale.

The links between environmental change and human health may be either direct (e.g. impact of air pollution on respiratory and cardiac functioning) or indirect (e.g. extreme weather events, sea level rise or desertification leading to permanent displacement). There is plausible connection, evidenced by science, between the change in natural systems and human well-being in all instances.

Planetary health operates chiefly at a transboundary/international scale, covering issues that one country cannot address in isolation. Solutions, however, may be local, national, regional or international. Planetary health is horizontal (across borders and economies) and vertical (across time, preserving and renewing Earth's natural systems for future generations).

The planetary health concept builds on the ecological framing of planetary boundaries¹ and the human development framing of the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)². The work of the Rockefeller Foundation Economic Council on Planetary Health, through its Secretariat based at the Oxford Martin School at the University of Oxford, emphasizes the interconnectedness, universality and equity that emerges from the SDGs.

The Rockefeller Foundation Economic Council on Planetary Health aims to provide a policy-oriented, economic perspective to developing solutions through a report that will be published in 2019. The central economic concept to the report is that externalities (or costs and benefits to another party that are not priced, regulated or consented to) should better address planetary boundaries than at present, while remaining mindful of the SDGs. The analysis pays attention to equity and distributional issues, recognizing how different people, institutions, countries and trajectories of development are affected by both the impact of planetary health and the measures proposed to address it. This work seeks to target recommendations at global and national policy-makers.

To address externalities, three key dimensions of change (both positive and negative) are considered through which planetary health should be considered, and from which global public goods can be developed. These are:

- 1. New incentives for planetary health can be achieved through price/ market and non-price/regulatory mechanisms and policies. These are instruments such as taxes, subsidies and pricing schemes, mandates and also investment in research, knowledge and information that shift behaviour.
- 2. New and adjusted forms of governance and institutional arrangements are needed to address the (political) challenges and trade-offs of planetary health at multiple scales. Intergovernmental mechanisms have had varied impact on enabling effective multilateral coordination, cooperation and new forms of polycentric global institutions including non-state actors, such as businesses, cities and NGOs, are emerging.
- 3. Existing planetary health monitoring mechanisms can be strengthened through better knowledge and stronger connections between human health and natural/environmental monitoring and measurement systems, and by drawing on new technologies to measure and manage data.

A series of background papers has been developed by the Secretariat to inform the Council Members. These aim to illustrate where solutions might be identified and applied, diagnosing planetary health issues by highlighting drivers of change, significant environmental impacts and the resulting human health impacts. Direct and indirect interlinkages between the drivers, environmental and human health impact are considered.

The full set of papers can be accessed at www.planetaryhealth.ox.ac.uk/publications/

JS Bichentett

Sam Bickersteth Executive Director, Rockefeller Foundation Economic Council on Planetary Health



Rockström, Johan, Will Steffen, Kevin Noone, Åsa Persson, F. Stuart Chapin III, Eric Lambin, Timothy M. Lenton et al. "Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity." Ecology and society 14, no. 2 (2009).

² United Nations. "Sustainable Development Goals". Accessed from www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainabledevelopment-goals



Sanitation in the Context of Planetary Health: Purpose of this Paper

This paper is an output of the Secretariat of the Rockefeller Economic Council on Planetary Health. It is intended to inform the council and to review the relationship between sanitation, one of the key public health challenges, and planetary health.

Sustainable access to clean and adequate water, air and diets sit at the heart of the planetary health agenda. The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, SDG 6 in particular, focus attention on the role of water and sanitation.

Sustainable Development Goal 6:

Ensure availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all Target: 6.2 – By 2030, achieve access to adequate and equitable sanitation and hygiene for all and end open defecation, playing special attention to the needs of women and girls and those in vulnerable situations.

Target: 6.3 – By 2030, improve water quality by reducing pollution, eliminating dumping and minimizing release of hazardous chemicals and materials, halving the proportion of untreated wastewater and substantially increasing recycling and safe reuse globally.

Target: 6.A – By 2030, **expand international cooperation and capacity-building** support to developing countries **in water- and sanitation-related activities and programmes**, including water harvesting, desalination, water efficiency, wastewater treatment, recycling and reuse technologies.

Global losses associated with inadequate water supply and sanitation are estimated to be 1.5% of GDP. Poor sanitation is costing countries such as India more than 6% of GDP, while less than half the global population use a safely managed sanitation service. This paper shows investment in sanitation to be the second-best health investment globally, behind only hygiene promotion. Economic benefits are in the range of US\$5-16 benefit for every US\$1 spent.

Barriers to improving sanitation vary across contexts both in terms of rural and urban development and national wealth. We suggest that the application of a planetary health approach can provide new ways of valuing and addressing the challenges of sanitation, and in doing so can generate additional benefits for the environment and economic development.

In particular, by focussing on resource recovery from fecal sludge and wastewater – and its potential to generate clean energy – prudent investment in sanitation and waste management can help countries to reduce their greenhouse gas emissions, reduce the use of artificial fertilizers in agriculture, ease pressures on freshwater availability, and create jobs in the waste collection sector and in waste treatment plants.



Table of Contents

1.(

1.0 Sanitation for Planetary Health: An Overview	Page 8
1.1 Introduction and background	Page 8
1.2 Sanitation as a public good	Page10
1.3 Technologies and political support	Page 11
1.4 International support for improved sanitation	Page 13
1.5 Progress towards improved sanitation for all	Page 14
1.6 Conclusions	Page 14
2.0 Gender and Sanitation	Page 18
2.1 Gender and the SDGs	
3.0 Waste Management: Fecal Sludge, Wastewater and Treatment	Page 19
3.1 Waste as a circular economy	Page 19
3.2 Sewers, decentralized systems and FSM	Page 20
3.3 The SDGs and waste treatment	Page 20
3.4 Waste as an agricultural resource	Page 22
3.5 Final disposal of human waste	Page 22
4.0 Sanitation in Rural Developing Regions	Page 24
4.1 Rural regions and basic sanitation	Page 24
4.2 Progress and challenges	Page 25
4.3 Opportunities and barriers	Page 25
4.4 Addressing cultural barriers and taboos	Page 26
4.5 Female safety and dignity	Page 26
5.0 Sanitation in Urban Developing Regions	Page 28
5.1 Sanitation in transition	Page 28
5.2 Progress and challenges	Page 29
5.3 Opportunities and barriers	Page 30
5.4 The Pace of Urbanization	Page 30
6.0 Sanitation in Developed Regions	Page 33
6.1 Infrastructure maintenance and complex waste	Page 33
6.2 Progress and challenges	Page 33
6.3 Opportunities and barriers	Page 34
6.4 Regulation and environmental protection	Page 36
Further Reading	Page 37
References	Page 38

1.0 Sanitation for Planetary Health: An Overview

Key points

- Well-managed sanitation improves health, benefits agriculture, creates clean energy and provides employment opportunities.
- However, less than half the global population (39% or 2.9 billion) use a safely managed sanitation service.
- Nearly a third (32% or 2.3 billion) of people still lack even basic sanitation.
- 892 million people still practice open defecation.
- Across Africa, less than 10% of the population is connected to a sewer system; in some regions, there is no sewer infrastructure at all.
- · Poor sanitation is a factor in an estimated 80% of all environment-related deaths.
- Poor sanitation costs countries between 0.5 and 7.2% of their annual GDP.
- The World Health Organization estimated total global economic losses to be US\$260 billion annually in 2012.
- Investment in sanitation returns an estimated US\$5-16 for every US\$1 spent.

1.1 Introduction and background

A challenge for densely populated human settlements is how to dispose of the correspondingly large quantities of human waste¹ which, if not safely managed, impact on human health, the environment and economic prosperity. In 2012, the World Health Organization (WHO) estimated total global economic losses associated with inadequate water supply and sanitation to be 1.5% of GDP (US\$260 billion)² with poor sanitation costing countries between 0.5 and 7.2% of annual GDP³ (7.2% of GDP in Cambodia, 6.4% in India, 6.3% in Bangladesh, 3.9% in Pakistan and 2.4% in Niger⁴), due to premature deaths, the cost of healthcare treatment, productivity time lost to sickness and seeking treatment, and productivity time lost to accessing sanitation facilities. In developing countries, at any one time as many as half of all available hospital beds can be filled with people suffering from diarrhoea.⁵

More recent studies estimate losses from sanitation alone to be US\$222.9 billion in 2015, a 22% rise on World Bank Water and Sanitation Programme (WSP) figures for 2010.⁶ In India – where sanitation coverage was particularly poor for the country's level of development at the time the figures were calculated – economic gains from improved sanitation were estimated at US\$54 billion annually,⁷ with even higher potential when benefits from wastewater reuse were factored in.^{8,9} In developed settings, sanitation involves not only the removal of waste, but also its treatment, recycling and reuse into natural fertilizer, biogas and clean energy, providing additional economic benefits. Global biogas sales, for example, could be as high as US\$50 billion annually by 2026.¹⁰ Based on Disability Adjusted Life Years (DALYs) and the Global Burden of Disease (GBD), the two most commonly used health metrics, investment in sanitation would be the second-best health investment in the world, behind only hygiene promotion.¹¹ This is without counting the health co-benefits that would come with cleaner energy and improved fertilizer use. This highlights that although initial capital costs of sanitation systems can be high – sanitation has to be properly funded and managed, as inappropriate sanitation can be a worse health hazard than none at all¹² – the long-term investment will pay off. However, the Millennium Development Goal (MDG) targets on sanitation were missed by nine percentage points (700 million people). Key challenges identified included difficulties in securing political buy-in for sanitation improvements; a lack of focus on the different requirements of rural and urban areas, leaving rural areas lagging behind; insufficient data – particularly at subnational levels – to provide convincing evidence to policy-makers; and too strong a focus from international agencies and NGOs on supporting small-scale household or community projects rather than larger, city-wide or national programmes.¹³,¹⁴

This has led to an increased focus on sanitation and waste management in the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)¹⁵ and a strong intention to do better in achieving the targets for the period 2015-2030. Two indicators in particular relate to sanitation: SDG 6.2 – "Percentage of the population using safely managed sanitation services (i.e. a toilet not shared with other households, for which excreta is safely disposed of in situ or treated off-site¹⁶), including a hand-washing facility with soap and water"; and SDG 6.3 – improved wastewater management, recycling and reuse.

Monitoring progress towards the targets associated with these goals is an important part of the SDG programme and is undertaken by WHO and UNICEF's Joint Monitoring Programme (JMP).¹⁷ Improvements in sanitation could help countries achieve as many as 32 SDG targets, including reducing the burden of infectious diseases and child mortality, improving education, achieving gender equality and empowerment for all girls and women, making cities more liveable and improving food security. WHO identifies two key regions for action: smaller urban centres and rural areas of sub-Saharan Africa, and large cities with vulnerable water systems in Asia.

In addition to the human health benefits of good sanitation, the reuse of human excreta in fecal sludge and wastewater, particularly as agricultural fertilizer, offers economic opportunities. A 2009 report by India's Central Pollution Control Board¹⁸ calculated that 93% of the value of wastewater is down to the micronutrients it contains. There are enough micronutrients in one person's excreta to grow the wheat and maize needed to feed that person for a year. Some studies¹⁹ suggest that in countries dominated by smallholder farming, all fertilizer use could be replaced by nutrients recovered from human excreta, with its cash value making a significant impact on the annual finances of smallholder farmers and their families, particularly if reduced household spending on artificial fertilizer is factored in. Organic kitchen waste, which may be disposed of through the same systems as excreta, can also be recycled.

Poorly managed sanitation can create additional environmental challenges, however. While pit latrines can be hygienic and can count as improved sanitation for the SDG goals, they can create more than 1 tonne of CO₂eq per year due to increased methane emissions of anaerobic decomposition in the pits.²⁰ Connecting the latrine pit to a household-scale biogas plant, which can also process kitchen waste, reduces this by more than 80% and provides clean household energy, further reducing the carbon emissions of other fuel sources such as wood or charcoal. At a municipal scale, biogas captured from waste treatment plants can be used to power vehicles, added to energy grids, and used to power the treatment plants themselves.

Achieving the potential economic benefits may require a change in how sanitation and wastewater management are approached, however. At present, such issues are widely considered to be part of public health and increasingly as an important part of environmental protection. They are also considered to be an important part of enhancing gender equality, freeing women from water collection and caring for sick relatives, as well as protecting them from harassment in the bush and providing the privacy they need during menstruation to engage fully in school and the workplace.²¹ Sanitation and waste management are not yet widely considered to be resource management tools, however, capable of generating additional economic growth and thus becoming cost neutral to their providers.

Managed safely, sanitation is financially and politically sustainable. It can deliver direct economic benefits by reducing healthcare costs associated with disease burdens, particularly with regard to diarrhoeal disease; increasing the indirect economic benefits related to improved health outcomes, such as reducing lost productivity due to sick days; and increasing the indirect economic benefits from non-health outcomes, such as making areas more attractive to businesses.²² Tourism opportunities in particular can be adversely affected by poor sanitation infrastructure.²³ By applying a planetary health approach across the triad of public health, environmental health and economic opportunities, policy-makers and environmentalists can begin to think in terms of not only the disposal of human waste, but also of resource recovery and reuse, considering the benefits this can bring to the environment, including reduction of greenhouses gases and recovery of nutrients for agriculture, as well as reduced exposure to disease pathogens. This should encourage safer management from which human health (including the occupational safety of water treatment workers) will benefit.

1.2 Sanitation as a public good

Sanitation has to be a community-wide - if not nationwide - endeavour. Unlike with clean, piped water, there is little benefit to one household in a community installing a toilet if others do not: people will still be exposed to pathogens and their environment will still be polluted. Once toilets have been installed, a public health campaign may need to be instigated to ensure they are actually used for their intended purpose: people need to "get a toilet, use the toilet and clean the toilet".²⁴ This may need to be coordinated and managed for households at the community level, especially where toilets are shared.²⁵ Without this, toilet structures can end up being used as storage sheds or for other inappropriate uses, with little benefit to the community.

Sewer systems and waste management services, including fecal sludge management (FSM) services that collect fecal waste from tanks in regions where municipal sewers have not been installed, need to be planned, invested in and built at a community or city level. If doing so is impractical or prohibitively expensive, alternate systems – which may be financial systems as well as technological ones - that are more appropriate to the context need to be considered.

Perceptions and behavioural change around sanitation can be as important as technological innovations in driving forward changes. Frank Geels of the University of Manchester has argued that the transition from cesspools to sewer systems in Europe during the Industrial Revolution illustrates the importance of framing the relationship between environmental factors and human health in order to drive interest in improved sanitation onto political agendas.²⁶ Framing sanitation as a key public service enables it to be used as a cause on which to build pressure for further social reform, particularly if the issue is adopted by regime insiders. In 1947, Mahatma Gandhi advocated good sanitation for all, declaring it to be "more important than independence"²⁷ and the Indian government has vowed to end open defecation in the country by 2019, the 150th anniversary of his birth.²⁸ Political and economic support for sanitation as a public good that improves health, the environment and opportunities is needed at the international, national and community level, if the SDG targets are to be met.

Human waste, health and the environment

The evidence for investing in sanitation as a public good is strong: along with improved nutrition, better housing conditions and improvements in medical science, it has helped to improve the health of many of the world's populations over the past 200 years.²⁹ In 2007, readers of the British Medical Journal voted sanitation to be the most important medical milestone since the journal was first published in 1840.³⁰ Epidemiologist Abdel Omran considers it to be an important part of the second stage of humanity's epidemiological transition,³¹ the "age of receding pandemics", during which the number of deaths caused by infectious disease, especially in early childhood, reduces considerably. 32,33

The health risks from poor sanitation come from human exposure to the bacteria and viruses contained in human feces or carried by the vectors that feed and breed on it. The average person excretes approximately 130g of feces each day, and 800-2,000ml of urine, depending on age, medical condition and liquid consumption. One gram of human feces can contain up to 100 million pathogens and as many as 10,000 parasites,³⁴ responsible for diseases such as cholera, dysentery, Hepatitis A, polio, typhoid, schistosomiasis and trachoma. Many of these, such as Escherichia coli and Salmonella spp, and microscopic parasites including Cryptosporidium spp, cause diarrhoea, which was estimated to be responsible for more than 100 million DALYs worldwide in 2013³⁵ and nearly 1.4 million deaths in 2015.³⁶ More recent research suggests that these figures may be even higher when the effects of nutrition on childhood growth and development are fully factored in.³⁷ Of this disease burden, 92% is borne by low- and lower-middle income countries (LMICs). Of the estimated 842,000 people in LMICs who die as a result of poor hygiene each year, poor sanitation is the main cause in 280,000 cases, ³⁸ and is responsible for one in five cases of diarrhoea.³⁹ Improved sanitation can reduce the rates of diarrhoeal disease by 32-37%⁴⁰ but 1.8 million people still use a water supply at risk of fecal contamination.⁴¹

1.3 Technologies and political support

The available evidence should provide a strong incentive for providing global access to improved sanitation. Technological solutions to poor sanitation are available: the introduction of facilities such as latrines, septic tanks, toilets and sewers that reduce contact between humans, the environment and harmful waste. But sanitation also requires financing and institutional governance in a systems approach that considers the entire waste-management cycle. A stronger focus in the SDGs on end-to-end management as well as the state of the facilities into which waste is excreted, collected and treated, led to the previous MDG category of "improved" to be restructured: it is now defined as "facilities that include flush/pour flush to piped sewer systems, septic tanks or pit latrines; ventilated improved pit latrines, composting toilets or pit latrines with slabs". "Improved" now encompasses three categories basic, limited and safely managed.

WHO/UNICEF JMP categorizes sanitation facilities as:42

- **Open defecation:** Open defecation onto open ground or into water courses
- Unimproved: Pit, bucket or hanging latrines that are not safely managed (may cause water or soil contamination)
- Basic: Use of improved facilities that are not shared with other households (but which may not reach the standard of "safely managed")
- Limited: Use of improved facilities shared between two or more households (which may or may not otherwise meet the criteria for 'safely managed')
- Safely managed: Use of improved facilities that are not shared with other households and where excreta are safely disposed of in situ or transported offsite

Environmental risks of poor sanitation

Poor sanitation not only affects human health: it can also damage ecosystems. Poorly managed latrines and septic tanks can leak into soil and water, and untreated wastewater released directly into the environment can pollute rivers. Anaerobic decomposition in latrine pits can release five times as much greenhouse gas to the atmosphere as in a biogas converter.⁴³ Coastal dead zones can result from the depletion of oxygen used to break down large quantities of organic waste, and untreated waste can also cause eutrophication – excessive plant growth due to the high concentrations of phosphates and nitrates it contains.⁴⁴ The risk is higher during extreme weather events such as storms and flooding,⁴⁵ the incidence of which is expected to increase over the coming decades⁴⁶ due to climate change. Drains and sewers need to be designed to cope with seasonal differences in carrying capacity, such as during periods of heavy rainfall or monsoons.

Poor sanitation was linked to one in 10 deaths in India in 2014. At that time, the country accounted for more than 60% of the global population without access to a toilet,⁴⁷ but India is far from being the world's poorest country, nor one of the least developed, suggesting that sanitation is not only an issue of economic development but also needs behaviour change programmes to make a difference. The Swachh Bharat Abhiyan (Clean India Mission) campaign, launched in 2014 by Indian President Narendra Modi, has constructed hundreds of thousands of household and community toilets across India, has produced more than 80 MW of clean energy and has recycled more than 150,000 tonnes of waste to compost per year from India's cities.⁴⁸

The increasing availability and use of sanitation systems shows a strong positive correlation between a region's level of economic development and the prevalence of improved facilities, but there are also cultural and social drivers behind the reasons for more than a third of the world's population still lacking adequate sanitation. These also need to be considered when planning sanitation projects across the world.

When reflecting on these categories, it is important to acknowledge that different contexts may favour different systems: the Western European/North American model of flush toilets and extensive sewer infrastructure may not be appropriate in regions of high water stress and/or low population density,⁴⁹ where construction materials are not easily available and where urban centres are still developing.

While there has been criticism that the WHO sets the bar for "improved" sanitation too low,⁵⁰ small steps towards improvement should not be dismissed: basic is better than unimproved, and unimproved is better than open defecation. In developing settings, safely managed FSM systems are more practical and easier to facilitate than fully plumbed municipal sewers.⁵¹

SDG 6.2 specifically draws attention to the needs of girls and women and those in vulnerable situations in the context of sanitation.⁵² Inadequate sanitation provision for privacy, particularly during menstruation, can prevent girls and women from participating fully in education and the workplace⁵³,⁵⁴ while good sanitation can free their time from water collection and caring for sick family members, for schooling and for economic activities.

1.4 International support for improved sanitation

Improving sanitation is rightly recognized as a key component of planetary and global health by the WHO,⁵⁵ United Nations⁵⁶ (including the UNFCCC secretariat,⁵⁷ UN-Water⁵⁸ and UNEP⁵⁹), World Bank,⁶⁰ UNICEF⁶¹ and many other agencies and organizations at the national and international level, including those focussing specifically on sanitation such as WSUP – Water and Sanitation for the Urban Poor⁶² and CONIWAS, the Coalition of NGOs in Water and Sanitation, in Ghana.⁶³ Human waste should be seen as an important part of the circular economy, enabling the economic costs of sanitation to be off-set by benefits accrued through the reuse of sewage, fecal sludge and wastewater as natural fertilizer; the creation of biogas, cooking fuel and clean energy at household, community and municipal levels; and as a driver for employment opportunities and economic development. This is in addition to increasing productivity through better health and fewer days lost to avoidable illnesses. It is also important to ensure that sanitation is seen not only as a component of the home, but also of workplaces, educational establishments and other facilities, in particular to ensure female safety, dignity and equality.⁶⁴

WHO works with the UN Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), International Development Research Centre (IDRC), UNHABITAT and other organizations on sustainable wastewater management, particularly in poor urban communities, where the challenges can be most acute.⁶⁵ The World Bank recognizes the economic benefits of good sanitation to include⁶⁶ lower disease burdens, improved nutrition, reduced stunting, improved quality of life, increased attendance of girls at school, healthier living environments, better environmental stewardship, increased job opportunities and wages, and improved competitiveness of cities, all of which contribute economic and social gains to society.

In 2007, the World Bank launched the Economics of Sanitation Initiative (ESI)⁶⁷, in partnership with the Water and Sanitation Programme (WSP), following a WSP report⁶⁸ that calculated the cost of poor sanitation and hygiene in five South Asian countries alone to be US\$9.2 billion a year at 2005 prices. Subsequent studies were conducted in Africa and South Asia, and another is currently ongoing in Latin America. A second phase has analysed the benefits of sanitation interventions in a series of countries, including China, showing that while sanitation options that protect the environment are costlier to provide than more basic ones, their value to households, business and tourism can increase economic returns. Working with WHO,⁶⁹ ESI calculated the global economic return on investment in sanitation to be US\$5.5 for every US\$1 invested, with the global losses associated with inadequate water supply and sanitation to be US\$260 billion annually. WHO has estimated a return of investment of between US\$5.5 and US\$16.6 for every US\$1.00 invested in sanitation, based on lower costs of healthcare, improved worker productivity and fewer premature deaths.⁷⁰

In 2010, the UN General Assembly recognized access to safe and clean drinking water and sanitation as a human right. In 2012, the UN Deputy-General issued a call to action, including an end to open defecation by 2025. ⁷¹ This was driven in part by the challenges of meeting the targets set by Millennium Development Goal 7.C to half the number of the world's population without sustainable access to safe drinking water and basic sanitation by 2015. In 2013, MDG 7 was recorded as being "the most lagging" MDG behind its target,⁷² but despite this warning, the target was missed by nine percentage points.⁷³ Analysis of the failures highlighted noticeable inequalities between rural and urban areas, and between socioeconomic groups.⁷⁴

1.5 Progress towards improved sanitation for all

Today, the World Bank records that 99% of populations across all high-income countries – and 100% of their urban populations – have access to improved sanitation but globally, this drops to 68% across all countries (while a figure of 100% is often recorded, some marginalized groups, such as the urban homeless, may lack access to improved sanitation but in numbers too small to affect a national-level reporting score). In the world's least developed countries, only 27% of the population gained improved access to sanitation during the 1990-2015 MDG period. In 2015, 70% of people without basic sanitation lived in rural areas, as did 90% of those still practicing open defecation.

Furthermore, only 39% of the global population used a sanitation service that WHO would consider to be safely managed. Of the 2.3 billion people without even basic sanitation, 892 million still defecate in the open, in bushes, street gutters or open bodies of water.⁷⁵ Gaps in access to decent, well-functioning sanitation are clear markers of inequality and disadvantage⁷⁶ and the poorest people in developing countries now face a triple burden of communicable disease due to inadequate sanitation, lack of access to healthcare services including vaccination programmes that would help to protect against some waterborne diseases, and increased risk of exposure to urban and industrial pollution, including from human waste. Challenges to improving sanitation across the world have been disappointingly persistent and must be addressed if the health, environmental and economic opportunities are to be recognized⁷⁷ and good sanitation infrastructure locked-in early to developing urban regions.

1.6 Conclusions

This introduction has sought to give an overview of the links between sanitation and planetary health, including the risks to human health, the health of the environment and economic opportunities from poor sanitation, and the benefits that will be derived from improved sanitation. As the developing nations industrialize and urbanize, the incorporation of sanitation and waste management strategies into wider environmental policies offers many advantages. It will reduce human health risks from infectious diseases, especially the bacteria and viruses that cause diarrhoea. Where contact with human waste is not sufficiently prevented by well-designed pit latrines, septic tank systems, FSM services or sewer systems, pathogens and parasitic worms can infect populations though contaminated water and soil. The young – particularly children under 5 in developing countries – bear a heavy burden.

Environmental risks from the high-nutrient content of human waste will also be reduced, preventing eutrophication caused by untreated waste released to the environment, or river and coastal dead zones caused by oxygen depletion during waste breakdown. Methane that would otherwise contribute to greenhouse gas emissions can be captured and reused.

There are clear economic benefits to be had from investment in sanitation, with an estimated return of US\$5.5 to US\$16 for every US\$1 spent. Good waste management practices allow the nutrients in waste and wastewater to

be reused as agricultural fertilizer; the biogas released from the breakdown of waste to be used as fuel, including as cooking fuel in the home and as vehicle fuel; and to generate electricity. Capturing methane emissions from human waste for biogas compared with losing them to the atmosphere could prevent a 6% annual increase in India's greenhouse gas emissions, while recovered nitrogen could meet 18% of the country's projected nitrogen demand in 2019 and nearly 5% of its phosphorus demand⁷⁸. Using this biogas to provide clean energy to households that currently use traditional cooking stoves could potentially avoid more than 4% of India's greenhouse gas emissions, worth over US\$1 billion on the international carbon market, and reduce black carbon by a third⁷⁹. This would prevent 570,000 premature deaths annually. Recycling waste water will also ease pressures in regions of the world under water stress, though water-less sanitation systems are also a viable option.⁸⁰

Challenges to implementing and maintaining improved sanitation vary between locations based on economic status, rural or urban settings, and cultural barriers around attitudes to defecation. All of these need to be addressed if SDG 6 is to be achieved by its 2030 deadline. The most recent reports suggest that progress is currently too slow in around 90 countries, however.⁸¹ While the developed world is showing immense progress in collecting, treating and reusing waste, the developing world still lags behind. New solutions may need to be developed.

Open defecation: A persistent challenge

This paper focuses on sanitation, but it would be remiss not to briefly cover the issue of open defecation – urinating and defecating directly onto soil, into street gutters, or open water. Countries where open defecation is widely practiced, such as Chad (68% of population in 2015), Eritrea (76%), Niger (71%) and South Sudan (61%),⁸² have high burdens of diarrhoeal disease and childhood mortality. Communities are particularly at risk from bacteria, and from worms that affect nutrient and calorie absorption.⁸³ This means that even if diets improve, malnourishment does not.

High rates of open defecation may be the reason for smaller average Indian body size compared with African populations living in similar environments: links between open defecation and stunting are well established.^{84,85} Open defecation in India is also thought to be a factor in why higher rates of infant and child mortality have been recorded in Hindu families than in poorer Muslim ones.⁸⁶ Importantly, in communities where open defecation is practiced, individual families who install a toilet in their own home may not see the benefit, as the environment in which they live will still be polluted.⁸⁷ Encouraging the whole community away from open defecation requires concerted behavioural change campaigns.⁸⁸

Worldwide in 2015, an estimated 892 million people were still regularly practicing open defecation. The practice is most closely correlated with extreme poverty and remote rural areas in developing countries, but poverty is not always the main barrier. Cultural taboos can prevent populations from using latrines even when they are available. Historically, this has been a particular issue in India, where religious taboos, particularly around ritual purity and human waste, hindered government efforts to introduce improved sanitation.

In 2015, 40% of the Indian population still defecated openly,⁸⁹ though more recently the government's Swachh Bharat Abhiyan (Clean India Mission)⁹⁰ has made significant progress on this since its launch in 2014 with nearly 8 million toilets built as of June 2018, and 17 states declared open defecation-free. All but three Indian states now report rates of Individual Household Latrines (IHHL) above 70%, and coverage is above 85% for the country as a whole (though these figures are yet to be verified by the WHO/UNICEF JMP).⁹¹

Such findings emphasize that public health education campaigns can be as important as technical solutions to overcoming the challenges: studies from the 1960s to the present day have covered societal taboos and concerns about human excreta and suggest that these may hamper academic study into the subject, as well as presenting barriers to the introduction of sanitation.⁹²

Sanitation projects and approaches in regions of the world where open defecation behaviours are embedded need to consider incorporating behaviour change into any project rollout. It is important to acknowledge that there are three stages involved in sanitation:⁹³

Get a toilet
Use the toilet
Clean the toilet

Behaviour change programmes to help embed this in communities can, for example, include positioning a toilet as an aspirational household item that shows dignity and encourages respect, and as something guests expect you to have; as an important possession for maintaining health around significant lifetime events such as the birth of a first child; or as a valuable tool for protecting the safety and dignity of female family members. By positioning open defecation as something others look at with disgust, and associate with animals, its practice can be discouraged. Combining public health messages around toilet use with complementary messages about handwashing and home cleaning will help to promote cleaner and more hygienic environments.

Economic messages that stress the link between poor sanitation and days lost to work due to sickness, to schooling due to worms, or the cost of diarrhoea treatments and doctors' visits, can also help to encourage households and communities to see the value of sanitation.

It is also important to emphasize links between sanitation options and greenhouse gas emissions. Untreated pit latrines produce higher greenhouse gas emissions than open defecation. During decomposition in the open air, most of the carbon in fecal matter is converted into CO_2 . In latrine pits, however, anaerobic conditions result in methane production,⁹⁴ particularly when significant amounts of water are used. This is a particular issue in India, where a move from open defecation to pit latrines could see an increase in GHG emissions if this is not addressed by biogas digestors that can capture the methane and reuse it as clean energy.



Collection of waste in Kisumu, Kenya – Credit: © WSUP

2.0 Gender and Sanitation

Key points

- · Private, single-sex sanitation facilities, particularly during menstruation, can remove barriers to full participation in education and the workplace.
- Household sanitation protects girls and women from harassment and violence.
- Improved sanitation can free women and girls' time for education and economic activities.
- Including women in planning and delivery will ensure their needs are addressed.

2.1 Gender and the SDGs

Gender is a cross-cutting theme of the SDGs. Target 6.2 calls for attention to be paid to the needs of girls and women, an addition from the MDG 7, and the framing of sanitation in 7.C as purely for environmental benefit.

In many developing countries, and particularly in rural regions, women and girls are responsible for household water supplies – including fetching and carrying water from wells and rivers – and care for relatives when they are sick. As such, sanitation provision can have a huge impact on them, as it can free up time to attend school or to engage in income-generating activities. When girls and women have to leave their home to defecate in the bush or in shared community toilets, they are vulnerable to harassment and violent assault. Positioning sanitation in terms of the safety it affords women can help to overcome cultural barriers to having toilets in the home, by showing that this is a greater benefit, and one that caring families who want to protect their daughters will accept.⁹⁵

If gender issues are not considered when installing sanitation, facilities in schools can be inadequate for girls, particularly during their menstrual period, leading them to skip classes. School enrolment and retention increases where private sanitation provision for girls, separate from boys' facilities, is made.⁹⁶ In developing countries, girls may use rags as sanitary napkins which they need to wash and hang somewhere to dry after use; if there is no private place to change, and no water and soap to wash them properly, they risk infection and may drop out of school once their periods begin.⁹⁷ Women will also be more likely to engage in the workforce if female-only facilities are provided. In developed, liberal economies, however, there has recently been a kick-back against gendered toilet facilities, as they can be uncomfortable for transgender people and people who do not identify as either male or female.^{98,99} Ensuring that women and girls are included in the planning of sanitation projects, in leadership and consultancy roles, can help the development of gender empowering sanitation services.

Further information on gender equality and sanitation can be found at the following links:

UN Water for Life – http://www.un.org/waterforlifedecade/gender.shtml World Bank – http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTGENDER/Resources/watersanitation.pdf WSUP Gender – https://www.wsup.com/themes/gender

3.0 Waste Management: Fecal Sludge, Wastewater and Treatment

Key points

- An average adult's annual production of urine contains 4kg nitrogen, 0.4kg of phosphorus and 0.9kg potassium.
- · Fecal sludge also contains valuable nutrients that can be used as natural fertilizer and its breakdown produces methane that can be used for biogas.
- Biogas used to fuel vehicles produces 95% less CO₂, 80% less nitrous oxide than diesel and has no particulate emissions.
- Uncaptured methane emissions from human waste contribute 7% to total global methane emissions.
- Water-based sanitation systems use 15,000 litres of water per person per year.
- 80% of wastewater generated each year is discharged untreated into the environment.
- 90% per cent of all human waste is released untreated into the environment each year in low-income countries.
- UNESCO estimates that more than 200 million tonnes of human waste each year receives no treatment at all.
- The 9.5 million m³ of human excreta and 900 million m³ of municipal wastewater produced every day contains enough nutrients to replace 25% of the nitrogen currently used in synthetic fertilizers and 15% of the phosphorus.

3.1 Waste as a circular economy

As well as the hygienic value of the safe management of human waste, there are considerable economic opportunities to be had from viewing it as part of the circular economy.

Human excreta consist of two main components: urine, which contains by-products of human metabolic processes, and feces, which is the remains of undigested food, dead cells and gut bacteria. These contain valuable organic compounds including phosphorus, nitrogen, potassium, iron, chlorine, boron, copper and zinc. An average adult's annual production of urine contains 4kg of nitrogen, 0.4kg of phosphorous and 0.9kg of potassium,¹⁰⁰ for example; these can be recovered and reused. The high phosphorus and nitrogen content in particular makes human waste an excellent natural fertilizer, and the methane released during its organic breakdown can be used as biogas. Waste can be reused untreated, by spreading it on land as natural fertilizer, or it can be treated in septic tanks and waste management facilities. The safe management of waste is an important part of the sanitation process and includes how waste is collected, transported and treated, and how the final products of any treatment are reused or released into the environment. Sanitation is best approached not in isolation, but through a systems approach - for example, as part of an integrated and harmonized water cycle that includes the provision of clean drinking water, the removal of wastewater from toilets, baths, tanks and other domestic and industrial sources, and the protection of recreational waters.¹⁰¹ This is often referred to as WASH (water, sanitation and hygiene)¹⁰² and in developing urban regions may be better arranged through decentralized sanitation systems such as fecal sludge management (FSM) services¹⁰³ than through the large municipal sewer systems common in Europe and North America.

3.2 Sewers, decentralized systems and FSM

The management of waste in developed countries is a complex, industrial process that includes a number of stages. As economies develop, sanitation moves from a "drop and store" system of latrines and cess pits where the waste may remain in situ or be periodically emptied, to "flush and discharge" systems connected to piped water and sewage infrastructure. Fecal sludge management (FSM) is an intermediate system, in which waste is collected in a private tank, or one shared between a small number of households and businesses. This is regularly collected, emptied and transported to treatment works by FSM providers who may be private operators, part of public sector municipal services, or a combination of the two. FSM services are appropriate in low-income, developing urban settings where large-scale municipal sewerage systems have not yet developed and where the ability to construct sewers is limited. Sewer systems mix human excreta with water so that it can be easily transported away through pipes, creating large amounts of wastewater – it is estimated that water-based sanitation systems typically use 15,000 litres of water per capita/year,¹⁰⁴ which can be challenging in regions prone to water stress.¹⁰⁵

Sewer systems that receive the contents of flush toilets usually also receive wastewater from other sources, such as industrial sites and agriculture, which may also contain harmful substances, including toxic chemicals from fertilizers, dyes, detergents and pharmaceutical residues.¹⁰⁶ Septic tanks and latrines may also collect household waste, toilet paper and sanitary products, which need to be removed during treatment before the waste can be reused. Wastewater from healthcare facilities, that might contain higher concentrations of pathogens and high concentrations of pharmaceutical residues, pose a particular challenge. The Joint Monitoring Programme (JMP) of the WHO and UNICEF contains specific additional criteria for handling waste from healthcare facilities, including the segregation of sharps and infectious waste.¹⁰⁷ How waste is transported away, treated and finally disposed of has important implications for human and environmental health. As much as 80% of wastewater generated worldwide flows directly into the ecosystem (i.e. the sewer pipe opens into a lake, river or the sea) without any treatment.¹⁰⁸ As only 55 countries have collected full data on wastewater management, and 57 collected none at all,¹⁰⁹ there are large gaps in the evidence and the full extent of the issue is unknown. Only about a quarter of the global population is connected to a sewer system, though this is not necessarily a major issue: efficient, effective and hygienic waste management can be achieved by decentralized sanitation systems in which toilets empty into localized collection points that are emptied by tanker¹¹⁰ at the institutional and household level.

3.3 The SDGs and waste treatment

One aim of the SDGs is to reduce the percentage of untreated wastewater released back into the environment. Ideally, waste – and wastewater in particular – should be treated before it is released. There are three main stages – primary treatment, secondary treatment and tertiary treatment.¹¹¹ Primary treatment includes removing grit, gravel and large solids from the wastewater and allowing the remaining, largely organic matter to settle at the bottom of a tank (which may be a large tank in a water treatment works or a simple septic tank that is not connected to a sewer system and is emptied by FSM service providers). During secondary treatment, which can occur in septic tanks as well as larger scale systems, the residual organic matter is broken down by bacteria. The resulting "activated sludge" then passes into a sedimentation tank where the solid sludge is collected and removed; it may also be disinfected and/or treated with ultraviolet light at this stage to kill remaining bacteria. The liquid component contains many soluble compounds, such as nitrates, that may be removed by tertiary treatment. At the end of any of the three stages, water can be discharged back into water courses or reused,¹¹² and the remaining sludge can be used as fertilizer. Methane produced during the process can be used as biogas and to create clean energy. Globally, at least 75% of wastewater that enters a sewer system undergoes at least secondary treatment.

Breaking down the organic matter during secondary treatment is a particularly important process: although human waste would break down naturally in the environment, in high concentrations the oxygen required to do this can create oxygen-depleted dead zones that affect wildlife in rivers and coastal areas. The high phosphorus and nitrogen content of wastewater can also lead to eutrophication if not reduced, in the same way as artificial fertilizer run-off.¹¹³ In the UK, 75% of sewage sludge is broken down before discharge or reuse.

An added advantage is that the process creates methane that can be used as biogas, a renewable energy source that can be used for heating or cooking, to generate electricity, added to the national gas grid or used as vehicle fuel.¹¹⁴ According to the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), uncaptured methane emissions from wastewater contributed 7% of total global methane emissions in 2010. If this can be captured and used as fuel instead, the greenhouse gas emissions are lower than for many competing fuels. Used as an alternative to diesel, it could lead to 70 million tonnes CO₂ reduction annually.¹¹⁵ The biogas used to fuel vehicles produces 95% less CO₂ and 80% less nitrous oxide than diesel and has no particulate emissions. As methane is a more potent greenhouse gas than CO₂, burning it in vehicle engines or capturing it at sewage works or landfill sites arguably creates a carbon reduction of more than 100%.¹¹⁶

Around 10,000 tonnes of sewage sludge produced annually at the Bromma waste water plant in Stockholm, Sweden, is treated under anaerobic conditions to produce biogas for use in vehicles and the remaining sludge is used in agriculture as a soil conditioner. The municipal sewage treatment works in Heidelberg, Germany, can generate biogas from sludge within five days. A third of the electricity generated from this is used to power the treatment plant while the rest is sold to the German national grid.¹¹⁷ The UK generates 15,000 tonnes of dry sludge every year, 80% of which is used as fertilizer, 18% is incinerated, generating power, and less than 1% is sent to landfill – the least desired outcome. The level and type of treatment needed can vary depending on whether the treated wastewater is released into salt water or freshwater systems, the level and type of wildlife in the local habitat, and the proximity of human populations, particularly if there is local recreational use of water, such as for swimming in seaside areas. Globally, however, UNESCO estimates that more than 200 million tonnes of human waste each year receive no treatment at all.¹¹⁸ As much as 90% of human waste is released untreated into the environment each year in low-income countries.^{120,121} Poorly managed latrine systems can increase the amount of methane created during waste breakdown,¹²² adding to greenhouse gas emissions. In India, this could lead to an annual increase of 7% equivalent on current levels if not managed appropriately.¹²³

3.4 Waste as an agricultural resource

Human waste that undergoes any level of treatment is usually mixed with water at some stage of the sanitation process, particularly where toilets empty into a septic tank or sewer system, but also in pit latrines, where water may be poured into the pit. Globally, an estimated 9.5 million m³ of human excreta and 900 million m³ of municipal wastewater is produced every day.¹²⁴ This contains enough nutrients to replace 25% of the nitrogen currently used in synthetic fertilizers for agricultural land, and 15% of the phosphorus. It also represents enough water to irrigate 15% of all the currently irrigated farmland in the world (some 40 million hectares). At the city scale, the wastewater containing excreta from a city of 10 million people contains enough recoverable plant nutrients to fertilize about 500,000 hectares of farmland, which in turn could produce about 1.5 million tonnes of crops. Management of wastewater will be an increasingly pressing issue in the coming decades as the number of urban dwellers living within arid and semi-arid areas of the global South increases. These populations are likely to present a real challenge for conventional water-based sanitation systems, which typically use 15,000 litres of water per capita/year^{125,126} making the recycling of water from such systems a high priority.

The reuse of wastewater in agriculture is particularly useful as the sector is the world's largest water user, but without proper management, problems can occur. If crops are watered with untreated wastewater in which pathogens are still present, communities can be put at risk of disease, especially if the crops are not washed properly before being eaten. If wastewater is not used, however, the crops may wilt before harvest and be lost. This can create complex trade-off considerations in regions where both water and waste treatment infrastructure are scarce: children living in areas that use wastewater irrigation can have higher instances of helminth infection but better overall nutritional status than those living in areas irrigated by river water,¹²⁷ for example.

3.5 Final disposal of human waste

Despite the known advantages of using human waste as a resource, careless disposal remains a serious issue – in developed as well as developing countries. In August 2005, 600,000 tonnes of sewage were discharged into the UK's River Thames, killing fish and causing a stench reminiscent of the "Great Stink" of London, 1858;¹²⁸ subsequent inquiries revealed that Thames Water was discharging untreated sewage into the Thames around 60 times per year,¹²⁹ usually after rainfall.

The company has continued to receive criticism for its operation and was fined more than £20 million by the UK government in March 2017.¹³⁰

New York discharges 4% of its sewage into its harbour.¹³¹ Ocean dumping of sludge was banned in the 1990s,¹³² meaning that countries must dispose of waste locally, but this is clearly not happening as efficiently and effectively as it might be and still needs to be addressed, particularly in light of the levels of greenhouse gas emissions and waterway pollution that relate to different waste management systems. Regulation and oversight of sanitation systems can be as important as the technology used.



FSM transfer station under construction in Chazanga, Zambia where waste is treated – Credit: ©WSUP

4.0 Sanitation in Rural Developing Regions

Key points

- In developing countries, up to 80% of all environment-related deaths have a link with poor sanitation and lack of clean water supply.
- Sanitation in rural developing settings is more likely to consist of pit latrines with no connection to a sewer system and no access to FSM services.
- · Constructed and managed well, such latrines can be sufficiently hygienic and sanitary.
- Waste collected from latrine pits can be used as fertilizer or cooking fuel; waste can produce biogas and can be used to generate electricity, even at household level.
- · However, poorly managed latrines risk contaminating soil and wells used for drinking water.

4.1 Rural regions and basic sanitation

The areas of the world that have the poorest sanitation are the rural areas of low-income countries, particularly those in sub-Saharan Africa and Asia.¹³³ Many of these regions are also affected by food insecurity, undernutrition, water scarcity, soil degradation and diarrhoea, which improved sanitation can help mitigate.¹³⁴ There is also considerable crossover between these regions and the areas that are predicted to urbanize rapidly over the next few decades. From an early stage, investment in sanitation, FSM and wastewater management, and treatment plants – as part of urban planning and infrastructure development – is needed to ensure this happens safely. However, this chapter focuses on low-income rural settings that are likely to remain rural. Those transitioning to more urban settings are covered in the following chapter. Nearly three times as many people (2.3 billion)¹³⁵ globally lack basic sanitation as lack access to clean drinking water (844 million).¹³⁶ In developing countries, up to 80% of all environment-related deaths have a link with poor sanitation and lack of clean water supply.¹³⁷ Across Africa, child mortality can be 10-20 times higher in areas with poor sanitation than in those with good services.

In developing rural settings, sanitation is more likely to be a "drop and store" model. The typical arrangement is a pit latrine – essentially a hole in the ground, into which urine and feces are excreted, where they may remain, or be removed periodically. In some parts of Africa, less than 10% of the population is connected to a sewer system¹³⁸ and in rural areas there may be no connection at all. If the excreta is not removed from the latrine pit, one option is to periodically cover it over with soil and reconstruct the latrine elsewhere – sometimes with a tree planted over the old pit to take advantage of the nutrient-rich buried excreta, known as an "arborloo".¹³⁹ Latrines not connected to a septic tank or sewer system can be hygienic and such systems can fit the WHO conditions of "improved sanitation", though they can produce high methane emissions which smell unpleasant, add to greenhouse gas emissions and miss opportunities to capture biogas for household use.

Low-water and non-waterborne options¹⁴⁰ are appropriate in settings where there is no sewerage infrastructure, where the construction of such infrastructure is impractical due to lack of easy access to construction materials, low population density and distance from urban systems, and/or where water is scarce.¹⁴¹

4.2 Progress and challenges

Latrines confer considerable health benefits compared with open defecation,^{142,143,144} particularly if they are safely managed to prevent environmental contamination and to capture methane emissions in a biogas digester.¹⁴⁵ Latrines also provide privacy and safety to vulnerable members of the community. Private family latrines, or community latrines closer to buildings, protect girls and women from needing to go into the bush, particularly at night,¹⁴⁶ where they are vulnerable to sexual harassment and attack. Private and single-sex latrines, with provision of adequate menstrual hygiene management materials, can prevent girls from skipping school during menstruation.¹⁴⁷

There can be problems if latrines are poorly designed; however, WHO provides guidelines on recommended construction of pit latrines, including safe distances from living quarters to balance convenient and safe access with hygiene.¹⁴⁸ First, if feces are not covered by a latrine lid or soil, they will attract disease vectors such as flies and mosquitos, which can spread the pathogens they contain back to humans. Latrines can also provide mosquitos with attractive breeding grounds,¹⁴⁹ though this can be prevented by design features and by ventilating the latrine.¹⁵⁰

Second, if the latrine pit is not adequately lined, which is the case in most areas, excreta that leaks into the surrounding area can contaminate soil and water. This can be a particular problem where groundwater quality is affected,¹⁵¹ and where this may contaminate wells. In countries where pit latrines are prevalent, people often depend on groundwater wells for their primary drinking water supply.¹⁵² Discharges can contain microbial contaminants and, where chemicals are used, nitrates that can inhibit oxygen take-up in the blood, and in high doses may cause cancer.¹⁵³ Such contamination can be worse during wet and monsoon seasons.¹⁵⁴

Third, as has been covered elsewhere, latrine pits can increase methane emissions when not managed properly. Biogas digesters at the household, farmstead or community level can capture this, though if not well managed, leakage will occur and there can also be issues if production outstrips demand¹⁵⁵ requiring strong oversight and regulation of use.

4.3 Opportunities and barriers

Well-managed, hygienic latrine systems can offer decent sanitation to people and communities for whom connection to more centralized sanitation systems and infrastructure may be difficult. Sewage management appears to be less often considered a responsibility of the government than the provision of piped drinking water, inhibiting the development of a public service monopoly that will drive down price and subsidize poorer or more remote areas,¹⁵⁶ an issue that the development of decentralized systems (coved in more depth in the following chapter) is now addressing. Construction of sanitation systems is often more complicated and expensive than systems that provide clean drinking water, and people – including policy-makers – do not always understand the benefits as easily. In addition, in many parts of Africa, steel and cement would need to be imported in order

to install large-scale sewerage infrastructure, adding to the economic costs and making decentralized and FSM systems, in which storage tanks are emptied by professional sanitation workers and the waste removed to treatment plants, a more viable option.

Helping people to see sanitation as a value chain, in which excreta can be sold for profit or reused as compost or biofuel,¹⁵⁷ is one option for improving investment in sanitation systems at an individual household or community level in rural regions. At a household level, for example, toilets can be designed to convert waste into fertilizer, biogas and energy that can power the toilet and provide additional electricity for charging mobile phones.¹⁵⁸ Waste can also be converted into char briquettes for use in heating and cooking.¹⁵⁹ The phosphorus, nitrogen and micronutrients including potassium, iron, copper and zinc in one person's excreta is sufficient to grow enough wheat and maize to feed them for a year. One study¹⁶⁰ has suggested that in some smallholder farming communities, all fertilizer use could be replaced by nutrients recovered from human excreta. As sludge has a monetary value, its use could make a significant impact on annual finances of smallholder farmers, particularly if off-set against the cost of buying artificial fertilizer. Animal manure and organic kitchen waste, as well as human excreta, can be recycled in this way.

4.4 Addressing cultural barriers and taboos

Introducing latrines and improved sanitation into communities is not always straightforward: financial, cultural and religious barriers can exist. In Zambia, men are often reluctant to use latrines that are also used by their in-laws and female relatives due to cultural taboos,¹⁶¹ while in India, even members of households that have or could easily afford latrines¹⁶² sometimes prefer open defecation due to cultural attitudes around social status and religious rules regarding the handling of human waste. This prevents higher castes from being willing to empty their own latrine, while Indians of all castes are unwilling to take on work emptying others' latrines as doing so contravenes religious rules for most castes and reinforces the low social status of those from "untouchable" castes, who aspire to better,¹⁶³ requiring extensive behavioural change campaigns to alter behaviour.

While the number of people using improved sanitation has increased since the introduction of the Millennium Development Goals, there is still a lot of work to be done in order to meet the targets of SDG 6.¹⁶⁴ Recently, the JMP has stressed that a focus on achieving "basic" sanitation in the most challenging areas may be a more realistic aim than achieving "safely managed" and should be seen as a stepping stone on the path to achieving fully improved sanitation.¹⁶⁵

4.5 Female safety and dignity

An important factor in rural sanitation is the safety and dignity of women and girls. The sanitation goals of SDG 6 – which includes adequate and equitable hygiene and sanitation for all and an end to open defecation by 2030 – includes paying special attention to the needs of women and girls, and those in vulnerable situations.

Technology for rural environments

For rural communities that are remote from urban centres, largescale sanitation infrastructure may not be feasible due to lack of materials for construction, distance from waste management plants, and low density of population, but this does not mean that sanitation cannot be hygienic, nor that resources cannot be recovered from waste. Technology can be more sophisticated than simple arborloos; affordable toilets can be practical to install, avoid issues of wastewater and pathogen seepage into ground courses from unlined or poorly maintained latrine pits, and capture valuable resources for reuse. Biogas digesters can prevent methane from untreated waste being released into the atmosphere, and see it reused as household or community biogas, thus helping to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

In 2011, The Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation launched the Reinvent the Toilet Challenge¹⁶⁶ to encourage the development of toilets that can capture and process human waste without piped, clean water, sewer or electrical connections, and transform human waste into useful resources such as water and energy, at an affordable price. Subsequent projects unique to China were launched in 2012 and to India in 2014, the latter alongside President Modi's launch of Swachh Bharat Abhiyan (Clean India Mission). Such toilets are able to deliver safe and sustainable sanitation to the 2.5 billion people currently using unimproved sanitation services.

Technology developed under the call has included a mobile, solar powered toilet that generates electricity and hydrogen,¹⁶⁷ and clean wastewater suitable for most uses other than drinking; a toilet that turns human waste into biological char, minerals and clean water¹⁶⁸ using hydrothermal carbonization, which produces less odorous char with enhanced heating value; and a toilet that sanitizes feces and urine and recovers resources and waste water¹⁶⁹ by mixing waste with sand, rather than water, and then smouldering it to kill pathogens and produce bio-oil. Such toilets are suitable for use in hospitals and schools, as well as peri-urban households.

Girls and women who have to go into the bush, away from their home at night to defecate, are at risk of sexual violence and harassment. The further away and more remote the toilet is, the greater the risk. In a study of reasons given for building latrines in India, between 50% to 69% of respondents listed improved security for women and children,¹⁷⁰ showing that positioned correctly, the benefits of sanitation can overcome ingrained cultural attitudes around human waste. Toilets in the home can also make a huge difference to elderly, disabled, menstruating and pregnant family members and free women from lengthy trips to collect water. In India, encouraging families to refuse to let their daughters marry into families that practice open defecation has been part of a social marketing campaign that has successfully increased latrine ownership.¹⁷¹

5.0 Sanitation in Developing Urban Regions

Key points

- Sanitation in developing urban settings is often provided by decentralized systems in which household toilets and community waste tanks are emptied by waste management workers.
- Open waterways in developing urban areas can be an issue, particularly during rainy seasons.
- Areas that are rapidly urbanizing need to ensure that sanitation infrastructure grows alongside urban population increase.
- In 2012, cities in India generated 38,354 million litres per day of sewage, but had a sewage treatment capacity of only 11,786 million litres per day.
- The percentage of urban residents in Africa increased from 31% in 1990 to 40% in 2014, but the percentage with access to improved sanitation fell over the same period.
- Decentralized sanitation services incorporating fecal sludge management and smaller, distributed sewerage treatment plants offer viable local alternatives to widescale sewer infrastructure.

5.1 Sanitation in transition

As regions transition from rural low-income to urban lower-middle and higher-middle income economies, sanitation moves towards more complex systems. The removal and treatment of industrial waste, as well as household waste, also becomes an issue. While in theory, modernization should bring with it improvements in hygiene and health, in practice the introduction of sanitation infrastructure can lag behind urban expansion^{172,173} with negative health outcomes.

Historically, poorly planned urban expansion contributed to what was known as the "urban penalty". In pre-industrial Europe, life expectancy was lower, and child mortality higher, in cities than in rural areas^{174,175} and in 19th century England, urban child mortality was 2.5 times higher than for rural children. Echoes of the urban penalty are still seen in the developing world: children under five in urban areas of Gaza with poorly constructed sewers have been shown to be four times more likely to be infected with the parasite Ascaris¹⁷⁶ during winter flooding than those in areas without sewers, though conflicting evidence has been observed from studies focussing on other areas¹⁷⁷. However, the systems introduced in Europe and North America during the late 19th and early 20th centuries may not always be appropriate for developing urban contexts today, particularly in regions where water is scarce and construction materials such as concrete and steel are not readily available. Setting-appropriate decentralized and FSM systems – such as hygienic in situ storage of household waste with regular emptying by a waste management service – also need to be considered.¹⁷⁸

Well planned, well-managed and well-maintained investment in sanitation can then bring health and economic benefits. In El Salvador, expansion of urban sewer networks reduced prevalence of diarrhoea amongst children by 21%, for example¹⁷⁹ and in India, economic savings available from good sanitation are estimated to be as high as US\$54 billion annually.¹⁸⁰

5.2 Progress and challenges

An estimated 87% of the Chinese urban population had access to improved sanitation in 2015 and many low and middle income countries (LMICs), including Costa Rica, Cuba, Egypt, Iran, Sri Lanka and Venezuela, had above 95%, but the figure was only 20% in Ghana and the Republic of Congo and 16% in South Sudan.¹⁸¹ What this sanitation looks like also varies widely, from to pit latrines, through FSM services to integrated WASH systems with plumbed toilets linked to a sewer system that takes waste directly to treatment plants. Systems may include a flush toilet connected to a shared tank into which many toilets discharge,¹⁸² or a chemical toilet that stores the waste at the household level, both of which are emptied regularly by waste management workers.¹⁸³ Of the 2.8 billion people who use improved sanitation globally, those using sewer systems and those using septic tanks are split evenly – approximately 38% for both systems.¹⁸⁴

In developing urban settings, toilets may be shared rather than private to individual households (in WHO terminology, shared facilities are "limited sanitation", even if the same system would be considered "improved" if private). The likelihood of sharing facilities with other households varies from country to country, as does whether sharing is more prevalent in rural or urban areas. In Nigeria, for example, sharing is more common in urban areas than in rural ones. Studies show conflicting evidence for whether or not sharing facilities confers a health disadvantage.¹⁸⁵ Sharing amongst a small number of households – "limited sharing" – may be as good as private facilities.¹⁸⁶

Waste collected from latrines and septic tanks by FSM providers is a good solution in countries where the introduction of sewer systems is impractical at present but must be overseen by strong regulation and support from municipal authorities.^{187,188} Poorly regulated services can present an occupational hazard to workers, particularly in countries with poor health and safety regulation:¹⁸⁹ unprotected workers emptying latrines in China are twice as likely to be infected with Hepatitis A as family and friends not engaged in latrine emptying. As in rural settings, poorly maintained urban latrines, septic tanks and biogas digesters can leak into the environment and contaminate ground water and water systems, including drinking water, and smell unpleasant. Open waterways – often common in peri-urban settlements – and clogged drains can help mosquitoes to breed, spreading dengue, malaria and chikungunya,^{190,191} and this can also be an issue in poor urban districts of developed nations.¹⁹² In LMICs, wastewater flowing into sewer systems is often discharged untreated into landfills, waterways or storm drains, polluting rivers, lakes and the sea.

A particular issue in developing urban regions is industrial pollution entering waterways – either directly, untreated, or via inadequate sewerage systems and treatment works. WHO South-East Asia has identified issues with, amongst others: heavy metal pollution from tanneries; toxic chemicals and microfibers from textile factories; toxic chemicals from automobile repair shops; and pharmaceutical residues, including antibiotics that can exacerbate antimicrobial resistance, radionuclides and endocrine disrupting chemicals from pharmaceutical factories, hospitals and healthcare centres.¹⁹³ A second issue with poorly designed sewerage systems is capacity during seasonal variations, such as rainy or monsoon seasons.¹⁹⁴ Sewer systems need to be designed to cope with such variations.

5.3 Opportunities and barriers

The installation of a private bathroom in a household is generally financed by the household itself; sanitation systems that include sewers and large-scale treatment plants are more likely to be state-scale projects that require financing and political support from stable governments. The introduction of most municipal sewer systems in Europe were financed by the wealth of the Industrial Revolution and not all countries have the luxury of such public or private wealth. Places of work, educational facilities and other facilities also need to have good sanitation, as well as just households; the lack of single-sex toilets can discourage girls and women from participating in education and employment.

It may be inevitable that sewer systems are more likely to be introduced in business districts and wealthier residential areas first, but initiatives such as the Water and Sanitation for the Urban Poor (see box, page 32) are working hard to ensure that less wealthy urban areas are not left behind. Poorer urban regions often rely on local private sanitation providers to empty tanks and manage fecal sludge. This can incur relatively high costs but can also provide opportunities for empowerment through the community management of decentralized systems.^{195,196}

Support to incentivize private companies to enter the sanitation sector may be needed, including for investment in capital outlays such as tankers in which to transport collected waste and to build waste management facilities, as well as municipal and national-level support for regulation of such industries, including the development of standards.¹⁹⁷ The example of the Devanahalli Fecal Sludge Treatment Plant (FSTP) in Karnataka, India, shows how smaller-scale treatment plants can create economic benefits in developing countries.¹⁹⁸ Sanitation development can be particularly effective when combined with policy development on national targets for sanitation coverage¹⁹⁹ or when combined with other policies around urban development, such as transport policies on the development of new road networks.²⁰⁰

The septic tanks, container-based sanitation systems, and FSM systems common in developing urban settings, are transitioning technologies between rural pit latrines and fully-plumbed urban bathrooms connected to sewer infrastructure. They may not be ideal long-term sanitation solutions²⁰¹. A particular area of concern is that "hybrid" or transitioning settlements, often on the fringes of urban areas, fall between neat categorization into urban or rural. Such settlements may not be well-served by any form of sanitation system, as technologies and policies tend to focus on providing for either rural or fully urbanized²⁰², though they are clearly better than nothing. In many settings, they may be the only practical option, especially in the short term.

5.4 The Pace of Urbanization

There is serious concern that sanitation provision will not keep pace with the rapid rate of urbanization: in 2012, cities in India generated an estimated 38,354 million litres per day of sewage but had a sewage treatment capacity of only 11,786 million litres per day.²⁰³ The percentage of urban residents in Africa increased from 31% in 1990 to 40% in 2014,²⁰⁴ but the percentage with access to improved sanitation fell in some middle-income

African countries, such as Ghana, Namibia, Nigeria and Zambia, over the same period.²⁰⁵ In the short-term, decentralized sanitation systems and FSM offer a workable alternative.

Introducing widespread sanitation requires political buy-in at the national level, but can be very successful when it has this. Uzbekistan, a lower-middle income country, has 100% improved sanitation. At the turn of the 21st century, its newly independent government saw provision of state services as part of the "spiritual renovation and well-being of society"²⁰⁶ following the breakdown of the Soviet Union. In India, a political drive to accelerate the improvement of sanitation throughout the country since 1999, relaunched in 2014,²⁰⁷ has seen access to improved sanitation increase considerably, with more than 85% of the population having a household toilet in mid-2018; President Modi has set a target to end open defecation in India by 2019, 150 years since Gandhi's birth.

Even where political will does not extend to financing sanitation systems from public funds, government involvement in the regulation of a privatized sanitation sector, including setting standards, providing low interest set-up loans and monitoring operations can be beneficial. At the international level, supporting knowledge transfer and helping to build capacity in developing settings will all help countries to improve sanitation and meet their SDG targets.



SWEEP vacuum tanker in Dhaka, Bangladesh – enabling the private sector to provide fecal sludge management services – Credit: © WSUP

6.0 Sanitation in Developed Regions

Decentralized sanitation services and FSM

A significant change from the water and sanitation goals of the Millennium Development Goals to those of the Sustainable Development Goals was a recognition that sanitation needs to be enacted at community- and city-wide levels to be effective. There is limited value in focussing on household sanitation only, particularly if there is little thought as to where the waste will go. For sanitation to be effective at larger than household scale, the public and private sectors need to be engaged to: enact policy; develop financial investments for capital projects such as sewer infrastructure (where appropriate), waste collection and management (including septic tanks, trucks and waste management plants); train waste management workers; and develop regulation around decentralized sanitation services to ensure consistent and high-quality operations. Investment in treatment plants is as important as investment in toilets.

Water and Sanitation for the Urban Poor (WSUP)

WSUP is a partnership between NGOs (including WaterAid²⁰⁸ and CARE International²⁰⁹) and the private sector (including Thames Water²¹⁰ and Unilever²¹¹) who work with local partners to identify and deliver sustainable services providing safe water and basic sanitation in low-income and peri-urban communities.²¹² It began operations in 2005, and works in six core countries: Bangladesh, Ghana, Kenya, Madagascar, Mozambique and Zambia. Local level partners (including municipal governments, public and private utility providers and the private sector) are supported to develop services, build infrastructure and attract funding that will benefit low-income communities that might otherwise be left behind. WSUP advises governments and regulators on how to develop sanitation services as a business that can succeed.

Case study: Bangladesh

WSUP works in Bangladesh to develop sanitation infrastructure in Dhaka and Chittagong. Only around 60% of the population uses any kind of sanitation service; there is no sewer system in Chittagong and very little in Dhaka, which has 16 million inhabitants of whom 3.5 million live in 4,000 informal and sometimes illegal settlements where pit latrines and septic tanks are the norm.

Since 2007, WSUP has worked with Dhaka's city utility and city authority to support local service providers and develop low-cost local sewer systems in poorer areas, including safe fecal sludge emptying services and waste collection. In 2015, SWEEP²¹³ was introduced, a public sector-owned brand under which private vacuum tanker companies can operate. The equipment required is owned by the public sector, but leased by the private sector and has a variable pricing structure that ensures the lowest income households are subsidized while the company still makes sufficient profit for the enterprise to be attractive. The model also allows a number of small-scale public-private partnership ventures to operate simultaneously under regulation, standardized operating procedures, and service level agreements.

At the end of its two-year pilot in March 2017, SWEEP had served more than 120,000 people in Dhaka and emptied more than 4,000m³ of sludge. Lessons identified from its experience include the value of servicing both institutional and household customers, particularly during the start-up phase, and ensuring that a strong enabling environment for sanitation services is developed in advance of service roll-out. SWEEP will now rollout and scale up across Dhaka and other cities in Bangladesh over the coming years.

Key points

- There is almost 100% improved sanitation in urban and rural regions.
- The most frequent system is flush toilets connected to mains sewers and water treatment facilities.
- · Main challenges include water resources management, treatment and disposal of wastewater and sludge.
- Sound management can save resources for agricultural fertilizer, biogas and clean energy.
- Pharmaceutical residues can be an issue in societies with advanced healthcare systems.
- · Local residents may have concerns about health impacts of facilities located close to residential areas.

6.1 Infrastructure maintenance and complex waste

As countries and regions develop, so too do sanitation systems for the disposal of human waste. It is tempting to think that in high-income countries, sanitation issues are a thing of the past, but this is not always the case. Challenges arise from ageing and poorly maintained infrastructure, chemical residues in wastewater and discrepancies between socio-economic areas. Household wastewater can contain hundreds of chemical compounds, including microscopic plastic, additives and pharmaceutical residues,²¹⁴ though health risks are much smaller than those posed by pathogens.

6.2 Progress and challenges

In 2015, on average, 99% of the population across all high-income countries had access to improved sanitation by WHO standards (100% reported in urban areas; 99% in rural), compared with just 28% in low-income countries (40% urban; 23% rural) and 65% in middle-income countries (79% urban; 51% rural).²¹⁵ Twenty-three countries* had 100% improved sanitation in both urban and rural areas. Of these, 22 were high-income (the exception is Uzbekistan - see previous chapter).

Sanitation systems in high-income settings are advanced, and service wide areas. Most consist of fully plumbed, flushing toilets that immediately remove waste from the point of excretion via a vast network of sewer pipes. The waste, now carried in water (and usually mixed with wastewater from domestic baths, showers, washing machines and kitchen sinks), is transported, collected and ideally treated before it is released back into the environment on a huge scale. The UK, for example, has approximately 625,000km of sewers and collects 11 billion litres of wastewater each day.²¹⁶ Conventional water-based sanitation systems typically use 15,000 litres of water per capita/year.²¹⁷ However, around 30% of wastewater is still released untreated to the environment,

* Andorra, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Cyprus, Denmark, Greenland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Kuwait, Malta, Monaco, New Caledonia, Palau, Portugal, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, South Korea, Spain, Switzerland, Uzbekistan, United States

most into rivers or coastal waters.²¹⁸ The sewer systems transporting domestic wastewater to treatment plants also collect from industrial sources and restaurants, as well as receiving rainwater run-off from roads and roofs.

In the UK in 2012, 96% of the population were served by main sewers, while the remaining 4% – mostly in remote rural properties – relied on septic tanks, cesspits and other in situ treatments. Septic tank systems are still common in many rural areas of developing countries, including the US, but insufficient maintenance can result in eutrophication if water leaks into local water systems.²¹⁹ As in developing environments, however, there is no reason why a sanitation system not connected to mains sewers should not be hygienic. In Sweden, composting toilets are becoming popular as eco-friendly sanitation and waste management systems in holiday cottages.²²⁰

Governments and municipal agencies in developed countries have a number of options for waste management and disposal that can reduce the risk of direct health impacts, such as exposure to pathogens or carcinogens, or indirect health impacts such as damage to the environment that might contribute to global warming, loss of biodiversity and depletion of non-renewable resources.²²¹ In 2012, the UK produced approximately 1.5 million tonnes of dry sludge, of which 1.2 million tonnes (79%) was reused as soil fertilizer, 260,000 tonnes was incinerated (18%) and just 9,000 tonnes was dumped in landfill (0.7%).

The management and disposal of wastewater and sludge is often highly regulated – under Urban Waste Water Treatment Directive 91/271/EEC in Europe, for example. In the UK, this is governed by the Department for Food and Rural Affairs, with the Environment Agency setting standards and parameters for, and monitoring, water quality and discharges from treatment plants.²²² In addition, EU Directive 1999/31/EC,²²³ which seeks to reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill, has stimulated the diversion of organic matter to composting in many EU countries, including the Netherlands, Sweden, Denmark and Austria.²²⁴

Wastewater and human excrement in high-income settings pose some unique challenges. In countries with modern healthcare systems, it often contains pharmaceutical residues, including radionuclides used in cancer treatments, oestrogen-affecting chemicals from contraceptives and antibiotic residues that can drive antibiotic resistance and affect soil microbiomes.^{225,226} Wastewater also tends to contain phosphates from detergents, which can cause eutrophication.²²⁷ Fats, oils and grease in wastewater from restaurants and pubs sticks to sewer pipes and can solidify and block sewers if it is not removed.²²⁸ Rainwater may leech pollutants from contaminated toxic soils at brownfield sites – former industrial sites – and run-off from roads can contain petrol, oil, grease and metals from vehicles. Run-off from agricultural land can contain fertilizer residue and pathogens from livestock, all of which need to be removed from the wastewater at treatment plants.²²⁹

6.3 Opportunities and barriers

Wastewater treatment produces considerable amounts of sewage sludge – biosolids (remains of feces) and residual organic matter (such as food scraps) that can be spread on agricultural land due to its high nutrient content. There are political and economic imperatives for reusing sludge as natural fertilizer – in the US, environmental groups joined the EPA in promoting sewage sludge as farmland and garden fertilizer as a more

organic alternative to chemical fertilizers. It is attractive to industry as a cheap form of waste disposal that saves money on artificial fertilizers.²³⁰

However, there are some concerns about the use of sludge and wastewater as agricultural fertilizers, due to short-term pathogen survival and long-term pollutants, such as heavy metals including mercury and cadmium that can accumulate in plants.²³¹,²³² Agricultural sludge has also been found to contain large numbers of pathogens such as *Salmonella, Campylobacter, Escherichia coli, Giardia* and *Cyptosporidium*;²³³ a number of studies have reported outbreaks of food poisoning linked to wastewater applied to agricultural soil.^{234,235} In the UK, a voluntary agreement within the agricultural industry ensures that sludge is not used on crops likely to be eaten without being washed, such as salad vegetables. A Canadian government study found no evidence of adverse health impacts from landspreading sewage sludge in its territories,²³⁶ but this is likely to be linked to strong food safety practices and household piped water. Crops grown in sludge-treated soil are not a problem if they are washed before being eaten, but this may not always be possible in less developed settings.

There can be challenges in developed countries around low public acceptance of the location of treatment facilities, due to concerns about adverse effects on the environment and human health, including the effect on house prices.²³⁷ Plans for the construction of a new treatment plant can meet fierce opposition from the local community. There are various ways people living near to treatment plants can come in contact with pollutants from waste facilities, including by inhalation of fumes generated by the facility, by ingesting food or water contaminated by effluence released by it, or by fire or explosion should the plant suffer an industrial accident – as has happened at treatment plants in the US,²³⁸ Belgium²³⁹ and Canada²⁴⁰ and other high-income countries in the past.

While composting facilities have been shown to give off bioaerosols containing bacteria such as *Clostridium botulinum*, endotoxin-producing gram negative bacteria and/or fungal spores such as *Aspergillus fumigatus*, and other studies have found convincing evidence for gastrointestinal problems associated with ingestion of sewage-contaminated recreational waters close to such plants,²⁴¹ it can be hard to link specific health outcomes to proximity to treatment facilities, as the people living close to them can be exposed to range of hazards^{242,243} linked to socioeconomic status. At least one study has suggested socioeconomic status decreasing with proximity to waste treatment facilities.²⁴⁴ Adverse health outcomes for the population living near landfill sites, incinerators and composting is usually insufficient and inconclusive, though there is more convincing evidence of gastrointestinal problems associated with pathogens originating at sewage treatment plants.

There is some evidence – thought not conclusive – for adverse health outcomes for treatment plant workers.²⁴⁵ Workers at waste facilities may be more likely to harbour a number of pathogens and suffer more bouts of illness than other members of the population, including respiratory conditions. A systematic review of studies on the occupational disease burden of sewage treatment plant workers has showed exposure to bacteria, bacterial endotoxins, hydrogen sulphide, and organic solvents and increased incidence of hepatitis, legionella, leptospirosis, gastroenteritis, reproductive outcomes and mortality in general, though no increased incidence of cancer. Results differ from region to region; one study found no increase in adverse health outcomes in the US, but an increased likelihood of 2.2 in France for some conditions.²⁴⁶

Further Reading

6.4 Regulation and environmental protection

In general, the more developed countries are leading with the way with "cleaning up" the back-end of the sanitation system and promoting the reuse and recycling of sanitation by-products such as sludge and wastewater. This is, to some extent, driven by regulation and restrictions on more harmful options. Implementation of regulation, such as EU Directives 91/271/EEC on wastewater and 86/298/EEC on sewer sludge in EU member states, along with requirements for regular reporting,²⁴⁷ are driving investment and research into agricultural application, biogas generation and development of biofuel. In the US, the EPA sets standards for waste management and provides guidance on reuse and recycling,²⁴⁸ including providing assurances that air quality is not degraded around agricultural sites on which natural fertilizer is used. (Specific benefits derived from the outputs of waste treatment works were covered in Chapter 2 and are not repeated here.)



Wastewater treatment plant

Business Analysis of Fecal Sludge Management

Chowdhry, Sangeeta, and Doulaye Kone. "Business analysis of fecal sludge management: Emptying and transportation services in Africa and Asia." Report. Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, Seattle, WA, USA (2012).

More Toilets Used by More People

Mendez, A., Patimo, F. and Rizzi, M. "More Toilets Used by More People: A sourcebook sharing insights and ideas from Unilever's work on sanitation behaviour change, to promote demand for - and use of - toilets". Unilever plc. London (2017).

Progress on Drinking Water, Sanitation and Hygiene

World Health Organization and UNICEF. "Progress on drinking water, sanitation and hygiene: 2017 update and SDG baselines". World Health Organization (2017).

Sanitation, Hygiene Policies and Institutional Frameworks

Ekane, Nelson, Nina Weitz, Björn Nykvist, Petter Nordqvist, and Stacey Noel. "Comparative assessment of sanitation and hygiene policies and institutional frameworks in Rwanda, Uganda and Tanzania." Stockholm Environment Institute (SEI) Working Paper 2016-05 (2016).

Sanitation, Wastewater Management and Sustainability

Andersson, K., A. Rosemarin, B. Lamizana, E. Kvarnström, J. McConville, R. Seidu, S. Dickin, and C. Trimmer. "Sanitation, wastewater management and sustainability: From waste disposal to resource recovery." United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya and Stockholm Environment Institute, Stockholm, Sweden (2016).

Survive or Sink

Lal Kidwai, Naina. "Survive or Sink: An Action Agenda for Sanitation, Water, Pollution and Green Hygiene". Rupa Publications India Pvt Ltd (2018).

The Missing Link in Sanitation Service Delivery

WSP. "The Missing Link in Sanitation Service Delivery. A Review of Fecal Sludge Management in 12 Cities". Water and Sanitation Programme Research Brief. World Bank/WSP. (2014)

Relevant links

Joint Monitoring Programme washdata.org

Water and Sanitation Programme www.wsp.org

Water and Sanitation for the Urban Poor www.wsup.co

References

1 Mitchell, Piers, ed. Sanitation, latrines and intestinal parasites in past populations. Ashgate Publishing, Ltd., 2015.

2 Hulton, Guy, and World Health Organization. "Global costs and benefits of drinking-water supply and sanitation interventions to reach the MDG target and universal coverage." (2012).

3 WHO. "Preventing sanitation-related disease: A call to action for sanitation." WHO Public Health and Environment (2013), Geneva. Accessed http://www.who.int/phe/events/ wha_66/Sanitation_related_disease_flyer_091213.pdf?ua=1, 7 June 2018.

4 Hutton, G., B. Larsen, L. Leebouapao, and S. Voladet. "Economic impacts of sanitation in Lao PDR." Jakarta: World Bank and Water & Sanitation Program 49 (2009).

5 Hutton, G., B. Larsen, L. Leebouapao, and S. Voladet. "Economic impacts of sanitation in Lao PDR." Jakarta: World Bank and Water & Sanitation Program 49 (2009).

6 Lixil/Oxford Economics/WaterAid (2016). "The True Cost of Poor Sanitation". Accessed http://www.lixil.com/en/sustainability/ pdf/the_true_cost_of_poor_sanitation_e.pdf, 28 March 2018.

7 Andersson, K., A. Rosemarin, B. Lamizana, E. Kvarnström, J. McConville, R. Seidu, S. Dickin, and C. Trimmer. "Sanitation, wastewater management and sustainability: From waste disposal to resource recovery." United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya and Stockholm Environment Institute, Stockholm, Sweden (2016).

8 WSP. "The Missing Link in Sanitation Service Delivery. A Review of Fecal Sludge Management in 12 Cities". Water and Sanitation Programme Research Brief. World Bank/ WSP. Washington DC (April 2014).

9 Peal, Andy, Barbara Evans, Isabel Blackett, Peter Hawkins, and Chris Heymans. "Fecal sludge management: a comparative analysis of 12 cities." Journal of Water Sanitation and Hygiene for Development 4, no. 4 (2014): 563-575.

10 Future Market Insights, "Biogas Market: Global Industry Analysis & Opportunity Assessment, 2016-2026". Future Market Insights. (Jan 02 2017). Future Market Insights.

11 Cairncross, Sandy, Jamie Bartram, Oliver Cumming, and Clarissa Brocklehurst. "Hygiene, sanitation, and water: what needs to be done?." PLoS Medicine 7, no. 11 (2010): e1000365.

12 Jewitt, Sarah. "Poo gurus? Researching the threats and opportunities presented by human waste." Applied Geography31, no. 2 (2011): 761–769.

13 Satterthwaite, David. "Missing the Millennium Development Goal targets for water and sanitation in urban areas." Environment and Urbanization 28, no. 1 (2016): 99–118. 14 Myers, Jamie. "Urban community-led total sanitation: a potential way forward for co-producing sanitation services." Waterlines 35, no. 4 (2016): 388-396.

15 UN Sustainable Development Goals. "Goal 6: Ensure Safe Water and Sanitation for All". Accessed http://www.un.org/ sustainabledevelopment/water-and-sanitation/, 28 March 2018.

16 UN-Water (2015). Wastewater Management, Analytical brief. Geneva: UN-Water. Accessed http://www.unwater.org/ leadmin/user_upload/ unwater_new/docs/UN-Water_Analytical_ Brief_ Wastewater_Management.pdf, 3 March 2018

17 World Health Organization and UNICEF. Progress on drinking water, sanitation and hygiene: 2017 update and SDG baselines. World Health Organization, 2017.

18 CPCB (2009) Status of water supply, wastewater generation and treatment in Class I cities and Class II towns of India. Series: CUPS/70/2009. Central Pollution Control Board, India.

19 Rosemarin, Arno, Nelson Ekane, Ian Caldwell, Elisabeth Kvarnstrom, Jennifer McConville, Cecilia Ruben, and Madeleine Fogde. Pathways for Sustainable Sanitation. IWA Publishing, 2008.

20 Kulak, Michal, Nimish Shah, Niteen Sawant, Nicole Unger, and Henry King. "Technology choices in scaling up sanitation can significantly affect greenhouse gas emissions and the fertiliser gap in India." Journal of Water Sanitation and Hygiene for Development 7, no. 3 (2017): 466–476.

21 Sahoo, Krushna Chandra, Kristyna RS Hulland, Bethany A. Caruso, Rojalin Swain, Matthew C. Freeman, Pinaki Panigrahi, and Robert Dreibelbis. "Sanitation-related psychosocial stress: a grounded theory study of women across the life-course in Odisha, India." Social Science & Medicine 139 (2015): 80-89.

22 Snieska, Vytautas, and Ineta Simkunaite. "Socio-economic impact of infrastructure investments." Engineering Economics63, no. 4 (2009).

23 Torres, Rebecca, and Paul Skillicorn. "Montezuma's revenge: how sanitation concerns may injure Mexico's tourist industry." Cornell Hotel and Restaurant Administration Quarterly 45, no. 2 (2004): 132–144.

24 Mendez, A., Patimo, Francesco and Rizzi, Matteo (2017) "More Toilets Used by More People: A Source Book sharing insights from Unilever's work on sanitation behaviour change, to promote more demand for – and use of – toilets. Unilever plc.

25 Tumwebaze, Innocent K., Charles B. Niwagaba, Isabel Günther, and Hans-Joachim Mosler. "Determinants of households' cleaning intention for shared toilets: case of 50 slums in Kampala, Uganda." Habitat International 41 (2014): 108-113. Geels, Frank W. "The hygienic transition from cesspools to sewer systems (1840–1930): the dynamics of regime transformation." Research Policy 35, no. 7 (2006): 1069–1082.

27 'Importance of Gandhian Thoughts About Cleanliness', See: https://www.mkgandhi.org/articles/gandhian-thoughts-aboutcleanliness.html, last accessed 2 March 2018.

28 PM India, "Major Initiatives: Swachh Bharat Abhiyan". Accessed http://www.pmindia.gov.in/en/major_initiatives/ swachh-bharat-abhiyan/, 27 March 2018.

29 Mara, Duncan, Jon Lane, Beth Scott, and David Trouba. "Sanitation and health." PLoS medicine 7, no. 11 (2010): e1000363.

30 Ferriman, Annabel. "BMJ readers choose the" sanitary revolution" as greatest medical advance since 1840." BMJ: British Medical Journal 334, no. 7585 (2007): 111.

31 Omran, Abdel R. "The epidemiologic transition." Milbank Memorial Fund Quarterly 49, no. 1 (1971): 509–538.

32 Wilkinson, Richard G. "The epidemiological transition: from material scarcity to social disadvantage?." Daedalus (1994): 61-77.

33 Omran, Abdel R. "The epidemiologic transition: a theory of the epidemiology of population change." The Milbank Quarterly83, no. 4 (2005): 731-757.

34 Feachem RG, Bradley DJ, Garelick H, Mara DD (1983) Sanitation and disease. Health aspects of wastewater and excreta management. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons. p326

35 Murray, Christopher JL, Ryan M. Barber, Kyle J. Foreman, Ayse Abbasoglu Ozgoren, Foad Abd-Allah, Semaw F. Abera, Victor Aboyans et al. "Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 306 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 188 countries, 1990–2013: quantifying the epidemiological transition." The Lancet 386, no. 10009 (2015): 2145–2191.

36 World Health Organization (2016), "Global Health Estimates 2015: 20 Leading Causes of Death by Region" Data provided by WHO press office on request.

37 Troeger, Christopher, Danny V. Colombara, Puja C. Rao, Ibrahim A. Khalil, Alexandria Brown, Thomas G. Brewer, Richard L. Guerrant et al. "Global disability-adjusted life-year estimates of long-term health burden and undernutrition attributable to diarrhoeal diseases in children younger than 5 years." The Lancet Global Health 6, no. 3 (2018): e255-e269.

38 WHO, 'Sanitation. Fact Sheet', World Health Organization (2017). Accessed http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/ fs392/en/, 28 February 2018.

39 Prüss-Üstün, Annette, and M. Neira. "Preventing disease through healthy environments: a global assessment of the burden of disease from environmental risks". World Health Organization, 2016. 40 Fewtrell L, Kaufmann RB, Kay D, Enanoria W, Haller L, et al. (2005) Water, sanitation, and hygiene interventions to reduce diarrhoea in less developed countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infectious Diseases 5.

41 WHO/UNICEF (2014), Progress on drinking water and sanitation: 2014 update .

42 World Health Organization and UNICEF. Progress on drinking water, sanitation and hygiene: 2017 update and SDG baselines. World Health Organization, 2017.

43 Kulak, Michal, Nimish Shah, Niteen Sawant, Nicole Unger, and Henry King. "Technology choices in scaling up sanitation can significantly affect greenhouse gas emissions and the fertiliser gap in India." Journal of Water Sanitation and Hygiene for Development 7, no. 3 (2017): 466-476.

44 Defra. "Waste water treatment in the United Kingdom – 2012: Implementation of the European Union Urban Waste Water Treatment Directice – 91/271/EEC". Defra, London, 2012.

45 Jørgensen, Claus, Anders Erichsen, Ole Mark, N. Sto Domingo, Gerald Heinicke, and Michael Hammond. "Dynamic modelling of health risks during wastewater influenced urban flooding." Gestion en temps réel/Real time control-Modélisation/ Models (2016).

46 McMichael, Anthony J., Rosalie E. Woodruff, and Simon Hales. "Climate change and human health: present and future risks." The Lancet 367, no. 9513 (2006): 859–869.

47 The Economist. See: www.economist.com/news/ asia/210607837-fixing-dreadful-sanitation-india-requires-not-justbuilding-lavatories-also-changing. Last accessed 3 March 2018.

48 Figures taken from http://www.swachhbharaturban.in/ sbm/home, accessed 19 June, 2018.

49 Narracott, A., and G. Norman. "Clean Team, a Human-centred Approach to Sanitation: Initial trials in Ghana." Resource Document. Water and Sanitation for the Urban Poor (WSUP). http://www. wsup. com/resource/clean-team-a-human-centred-approach-tosanitation-initial-trials-in-ghana/. Accessed March18 (2011): 2014.

50 Satterthwaite, David. "Missing the Millennium Development Goal targets for water and sanitation in urban areas." Environment and Urbanization 28, no. 1 (2016): 99–118.

51 Chowdhry, Sangeeta, and Doulaye Kone. "Business analysis of fecal sludge management: Emptying and transportation services in Africa and Asia." Report. Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, Seattle, WA, USA (2012).

52 Burt, Zachary, Kara Nelson, and Isha Ray. "Towards gender equality through sanitation access." UN Women Headquarters: New York, NY, USA (2016).

53 Bapat, Meera, and Indu Agarwal. "Our needs, our priorities; women and men from the slums in Mumbai and Pune talk about their needs for water and sanitation." Environment and Urbanization 15, no. 2 (2003): 71–86.

54 Sahoo, Krushna Chandra, Kristyna RS Hulland, Bethany A. Caruso, Rojalin Swain, Matthew C. Freeman, Pinaki Panigrahi, and Robert Dreibelbis. "Sanitation-related psychosocial stress: a grounded theory study of women across the life-course in Odisha, India." Social Science & Medicine 139 (2015): 80-89.

55 WHO. "Health Topics". Accessed http://www.who.int/ topics/sanitation/en/, 3 March 2018.

56 UN Sustainable Development Goals. "Goal 6: Ensure Safe Water and Sanitation for All". Accessed http://www.un.org/ sustainabledevelopment/water-and-sanitation/, 28 March 2018.

57 UNFCCC. "Planetary Health". Accessed, http://unfccc.int/ secretariat/momentum_for_change/items/10481txt.php, 3 March 2018.

58 UN Water. "Water, Sanitation and Hygiene". Accessed http:// www.unwater.org/water-facts/water-sanitation-and-hygiene/, 3 March 2018.

59 UN Environment. "Resource Efficiency". Accessed, http:// web.unep.org/resourceefficiency/what-we-do/policy-strategy/ resource-efficient-cities/focus-areas-cities/water-andsanitation, 3 March 2018.

60 World Bank. "Sanitation" Accessed, http://www.worldbank. org/en/topic/sanitation, 3 March 2018.

61 UNICEF. "Water, Sanitation and Hygiene". Accessed, https:// www.unicef.org/wash/, 3 March 2018.

62 Water and Sanitation for the Uban Poor. Accessed, www. wsup.com, 7 June 2018.

63 CONIWAS. Accessed, http://www.coniwasghana.org/about. php, 7 June 2018.

64 Water and Sanitation Program: Working Paper. "Mainstreaming Gender in Water and Sanitation". Water and Sanitation Program. November 2010.

65 WHO. "Water, Sanitation and Hygiene: Non-treatment options for safe wastewater use in poor urban communities." See: http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/sanitation-waste/ wastewater/non-treatment-options-for-safe-wastewater-use/ en/, last accessed 3 March 2018.

66 World Bank. "Sanitation" Accessed, http://www.worldbank. org/en/topic/sanitation, 3 March 2018.

67 Water and Sanitation Program. Accessed, https://www.wsp. org/content/economic-impacts-sanitation, 2 March 2018. 68 Water and Sanitation Program, 'East Asia: Economics of Sanitation Initiative', Accessed: http://www.wsp.org/content/east-asia-economic-impacts-sanitation, 2 March 2018.

69 Hulton, Guy, and World Health Organization. "Global costs and benefits of drinking-water supply and sanitation interventions to reach the MDG target and universal coverage." (2012).

70 UNICEF, WHO. "WHO Joint Monitor ing Programme for Water Supply and Sanitation." Progress on drinking water and sanitation (2012).

71 WHO. "Water, sanitation, hygiene. End open defaecation". Accessed http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/sanitationwaste/sanitation/sanitation-call-to-action/en/, 3 March 2018.

72 WHO. "Preventing Sanitation-related disease". Accessed http://www.who.int/phe/events/wha_66/Sanitation_related_disease_flyer_091213.pdf?ua=1, 3 March 2018.

73 United Nations. "The Millennium Development Goals Report 2015". United Nations (2015).

74 World Health Organization. Progress on sanitation and drinking water: 2015 update and MDG assessment. World Health Organization, 2015.

75 WHO, 'Sanitation. Fact Sheet', World Health Organization (2017). Accessed http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/ fs392/en/, 28 February 2018.

76 Andersson, K., A. Rosemarin, B. Lamizana, E. Kvarnström, J. McConville, R. Seidu, S. Dickin, and C. Trimmer. "Sanitation, wastewater management and sustainability: From waste disposal to resource recovery." United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya and Stockholm Environment Institute, Stockholm, Sweden (2016).

77 Moe, Christine L., and Richard D. Rheingans. "Global challenges in water, sanitation and health." Journal of water and health 4, no. S1 (2006): 41-57.

78 Kulak, Michal, Nimish Shah, Niteen Sawant, Nicole Unger, and Henry King. "Technology choices in scaling up sanitation can significantly affect greenhouse gas emissions and the fertiliser gap in India." Journal of Water Sanitation and Hygiene for Development 7, no. 3 (2017): 466-476.

79 Jewitt, Sarah. "Poo gurus? Researching the threats and opportunities presented by human waste." Applied Geography31, no. 2 (2011): 761–769.

80 Yermán, L., D. Cormier, I. Fabris, J. Carrascal, J. L. Torero, J. I. Gerhard, and Y–L. Cheng. "Potential bio-oil production from smouldering combustion of faeces." Waste and Biomass Valorization 8, no. 2 (2017): 329–338. 81 WHO. "2.1 billion people lack clean drinking water at home, more than twice as many as lack safe sanitation." 12 July 2017. Accessed http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2017/ water-sanitation-hygiene/en/, 15 March 2018.

82 World Bank. "People practicing open defecation (%) of population." See: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.STA. ODFC.ZS, last accessed 3 March 2018.

83 Lin, Audrie, Benjamin F. Arnold, Sadia Afreen, Rie Goto, Tarique Mohammad Nurul Huda, Rashidul Haque, Rubhana Raqib et al. "Household environmental conditions are associated with enteropathy and impaired growth in rural Bangladesh." The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene 89, no. 1 (2013): 130–137.

84 Spears, Dean. "How much international variation in child height can sanitation explain?" (2013).

85 Spears, Dean, Arabinda Ghosh, and Oliver Cumming. "Open defecation and childhood stunting in India: an ecological analysis of new data from 112 districts." PLoS One 8, no. 9 (2013): e73784.

86 The Economist. See: www.economist.com/news/ asia/210607837-fixing-dreadful-sanitation-india-requires-not-justbuilding-lavatories-also-changing. Last accessed 3 March 2018.

87 Larsen, David A., Thomas Grisham, Erik Slawsky, and Lutchmie Narine. "An individual-level meta-analysis assessing the impact of community-level sanitation access on child stunting, anemia, and diarrhea: Evidence from DHS and MICS surveys." PLoS neglected tropical diseases 11, no. 6 (2017): e0005591.

88 Mendez, A., Patimo, Francesco and Rizzi, Matteo (2017) "More Toilets Used by More People: A Source Book sharing insights from Unilever's work on sanitation behaviour change, to promote more demand for – and use of – toilets. Unilever plc.

89 World Bank. "People practicing open defecation (%) of population." See: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.STA. ODFC.ZS, last accessed 3 March 2018.

90 Swachh Bharat Mission. Accessed, http:// swachhbharatmission.gov.in/sbmcms/index.htm, 27 March 2018.

91 Swachh Bharat Mission. "SBM-G At A Glance". Accessed: http://sbm.gov.in/sbmreport/home.aspx, 11 June 2018.

92 Jewitt, Sarah. "Poo gurus? Researching the threats and opportunities presented by human waste." Applied Geography31, no. 2 (2011): 761-769.

93 Mendez, A., Patimo, Francesco and Rizzi, Matteo (2017) "More Toilets Used by More People: A Source Book sharing insights from Unilever's work on sanitation behaviour change, to promote more demand for – and use of – toilets. Unilever plc. 94 Winrock International India. "Feasibility Study for Developing Proposal under Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) for Claiming Carbon Credits for Leach Pit Toilets & Toilet Linked Bio Gas Plants. Final Report." August 2008. Winrock International India.

95 Mendez, A., Patimo, Francesco and Rizzi, Matteo (2017) "More Toilets Used by More People: A Source Book sharing insights from Unilever's work on sanitation behaviour change, to promote more demand for – and use of – toilets. Unilever plc.

96 Water and Sanitation Program: Working Paper. "Mainstreaming Gender in Water and Sanitation". Water and Sanitation Program. November 2010.

97 Nahar, Qumrun, and Rokeya Ahmed. "Addressing special needs of girls: challenges in school." SACOSAN II (2006).

98 Gershenson, Olga. "The restroom revolution: Unisex toilets and campus politics." Toilet: Public restrooms and the politics of sharing (2010): 191–207.

99 Benjamin, C., and A. Hueso. "LGBTI and sanitation: what we know and what the gaps are." In 40th WEDC International Conference, Loughborough, UK. 2017.

100 Esrey, S. Ecological Sanitation. Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (Sida), Stockholm. ISBN 91-586-76-12-0, 1998.

101 WHO. "Preventing Sanitation-related disease". Accessed http://www.who.int/phe/events/wha_66/Sanitation_related_ disease_flyer_091213.pdf?ua=1, 3 March 2018.

102 UNICEF. "Wash" Acesssed, https://www.unicef.org/ wash/3942_3952.html and http://www.who.int/water_ sanitation_health/en/, 3 March 2018.

103 Blackett, I., P. Hawkins, and C. Heymans. "The missing link in sanitation service delivery: a review of fecal sludge management in 12 cities." Water and Sanitation Program (2014): 8.

104 WHO SEARO. "World Water Day 2017. Why Waste Water?" Acesssed http://www.searo.who.int/entity/water_sanitation/en/, 3 March 2018.

105 Vanham, D., Arjen Y. Hoekstra, Y. Wada, F. Bouraoui, A. de Roo, M. M. Mekonnen, W. J. van de Bund et al. "Physical water scarcity metrics for monitoring progress towards SDG target 6.4: An evaluation of indicator 6.4. 2 "Level of water stress"." Science of the Total Environment 613 (2018): 218–232.

106 Jewitt, Sarah. "Poo gurus? Researching the threats and opportunities presented by human waste." Applied Geography31, no. 2 (2011): 761-769.

107 World Health Organization and UNICEF. Progress on drinking water, sanitation and hygiene: 2017 update and SDG baselines. World Health Organization, 2017.

108 WHO SEARO. "World Water Day 2017. Why Waste Water?" Acesssed http://www.searo.who.int/entity/water_sanitation/en/, 3 March 2018.

109 Andersson, K., A. Rosemarin, B. Lamizana, E. Kvarnström, J. McConville, R. Seidu, S. Dickin, and C. Trimmer. "Sanitation, wastewater management and sustainability: From waste disposal to resource recovery." United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya and Stockholm Environment Institute, Stockholm, Sweden (2016).

110 Roefs, Ivar, Brendo Meulman, Jan HG Vreeburg, and Marc Spiller. "Centralised, decentralised or hybrid sanitation systems? Economic evaluation under urban development uncertainty and phased expansion." Water research 109 (2017): 274–286.

111 World Health Organization and UNICEF. Progress on drinking water, sanitation and hygiene: 2017 update and SDG baselines. World Health Organization, 2017. p30.

112 Defra. "Waste water treatment in the United Kingdom – 2012: Implementation of the European Union Urban Waste Water Treatment Directice – 91/271/EEC". Defra, London, 2012.

113 Jewitt, Sarah. "Poo gurus? Researching the threats and opportunities presented by human waste." Applied Geography31, no. 2 (2011): 761-769.

114 Defra. "Waste water treatment in the United Kingdom – 2012: Implementation of the European Union Urban Waste Water Treatment Directice – 91/271/EEC". Defra, London, 2012.

115 Andersson, K., A. Rosemarin, B. Lamizana, E. Kvarnström, J. McConville, R. Seidu, S. Dickin, and C. Trimmer. "Sanitation, wastewater management and sustainability: From waste disposal to resource recovery." United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya and Stockholm Environment Institute, Stockholm, Sweden (2016).

116 Jewitt, Sarah. "Poo gurus? Researching the threats and opportunities presented by human waste." Applied Geography31, no. 2 (2011): 761-769.

117 Jewitt, Sarah. "Poo gurus? Researching the threats and opportunities presented by human waste." Applied Geography31, no. 2 (2011): 761–769.

118 UNESCO. "Sanitation Facts and Figures". See: http://www. unesco.org/new/en/member-states/single-view/news/sanitation_ facts_and_figures/, last accessed 8 March 2018.

119 Corcoran, E., Nellemann, C., Baker, E., Bos, R., Osborn, D. and Savelli, H., eds (2010). Sick Water? The Central Role of Wastewater Management in Sustainable Development. A Rapid Response Assessment. Nairobi: UN Environment Programme, UN-HABITAT, GRID-Arendal. Available from http:// www.grida.no. 120 Sato T., Qadir, M., Yamamoto, S., Endo, T. and Ahmad, Z. (2013). Global, regional, and country level need for data on wastewater generation, treatment, and use. Agricultural Water Management, vol. 130, pp. 1–13. DOI:10.1016/j. agwat.2013.08.007.

121 Corcoran, E., Nellemann, C., Baker, E., Bos, R., Osborn, D. and Savelli, H., eds (2010). Sick Water? The Central Role of Wastewater Management in Sustainable Development. A Rapid Response Assessment. Nairobi: UN Environment Programme, UN-HABITAT, GRID-Arendal. Available from http:// www.grida.no.

122 Reid, Matthew C., Kaiyu Guan, Fabian Wagner, and Denise L. Mauzerall. "Global methane emissions from pit latrines." Environmental science & technology 48, no. 15 (2014): 8727-8734.

123 Kulak, Michal, Nimish Shah, Niteen Sawant, Nicole Unger, and Henry King. "Technology choices in scaling up sanitation can significantly affect greenhouse gas emissions and the fertiliser gap in India." Journal of Water Sanitation and Hygiene for Development 7, no. 3 (2017): 466–476.

124 Mateo-Sagasta, J., Raschid-Sally, L. and Thebo, A. (2015). "Global wastewater and sludge production, treatment and use", in Wastewater: Economic Asset in an Urbanizing World, P. Drechsel, M. Qadir and D. Wichelns, eds. London: Springer

125 UNEP (2008). Ecological Sanitation (http://www.undp.org/ water/initiatives/ecol.html, last accessed 8 March 2018).

126 Vanham, D., Arjen Y. Hoekstra, Y. Wada, F. Bouraoui, A. de Roo, M. M. Mekonnen, W. J. van de Bund et al. "Physical water scarcity metrics for monitoring progress towards SDG target 6.4: An evaluation of indicator 6.4. 2 "Level of water stress"." Science of the Total Environment 613 (2018): 218–232.

127 Andersson, K., A. Rosemarin, B. Lamizana, E. Kvarnström, J. McConville, R. Seidu, S. Dickin, and C. Trimmer. "Sanitation, wastewater management and sustainability: From waste disposal to resource recovery." United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya and Stockholm Environment Institute, Stockholm, Sweden (2016).

128 Porter, Dale H. "The great stink of London: Sir Joseph Bazalgette and the cleansing of the Victorian metropolis." (2001): 530-531.

129 Jewitt, Sarah. "Poo gurus? Researching the threats and opportunities presented by human waste." Applied Geography31, no. 2 (2011): 761-769.

130 Plimmer, G., and Espinoza, J. "Thames Water: The Murky Structure of a Utility Company". The Financial Times 4 May 2017. See: https://www.ft.com/content/5413ebf8-24f1-11e7-8691d5f7e0cd0a16, last accessed 27 March 2018. 131 Jewitt, Sarah. "Poo gurus? Researching the threats and opportunities presented by human waste." Applied Geography31, no. 2 (2011): 761-769.

132 Rockefeller, Abby A. "Civilization and sludge: Notes on the history of the management of human excreta." (1998): 3-18.

133 World Health Organization. "Meeting the MDG drinking water and sanitation target: the urban and rural challenge of the decade." (2006).

134 Keraita, Bernard, Pay Drechsel, Javier Mateo-Sagasta, and Kate Medlicott. "Health risks and cost-effective health risk management in wastewater use systems." In Wastewater, pp. 39-54. Springer Netherlands, 2015.

135 WHO, 'Sanitation. Fact Sheet', World Health Organization (2017). Accessed http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/ fs392/en/, 28 February 2018.

136 WHO. "Drinking water- fact sheet', July 2017. See http:// www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs391/en/, last accessed 8 March 2018.

137 See: http://web.unep.org/resourceefficiency/what-we-do/ policy-strategy/resource-efficient-cities/focus-areas-cities/ water-and-sanitation.

138 Andersson, K., A. Rosemarin, B. Lamizana, E. Kvarnström, J. McConville, R. Seidu, S. Dickin, and C. Trimmer. "Sanitation, wastewater management and sustainability: From waste disposal to resource recovery." United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya and Stockholm Environment Institute, Stockholm, Sweden (2016).

139 Simpson-Hebert, Mayling. "Low-cost Arborloo offers Ethiopians health and agriculture benefits." Waterlines 26, no. 2 (2007): 12-14.

140 Andersson, K., A. Rosemarin, B. Lamizana, E. Kvarnström, J. McConville, R. Seidu, S. Dickin, and C. Trimmer. "Sanitation, wastewater management and sustainability: From waste disposal to resource recovery." United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya and Stockholm Environment Institute, Stockholm, Sweden (2016).

141 Nansubuga, Irene, Noble Banadda, Willy Verstraete, and Korneel Rabaey. "A review of sustainable sanitation systems in Africa." Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology 15, no. 3 (2016): 465-478.

142 Schmidlin, Thomas, Eveline Hürlimann, Kigbafori D. Silué, Richard B. Yapi, Clarisse Houngbedji, Bernadette A. Kouadio, Cinthia A. Acka-Douabélé et al. "Effects of hygiene and defecation behavior on helminths and intestinal protozoa infections in Taabo, Côte d'Ivoire." PLoS one 8, no. 6 (2013): e65722. 143 Boisson, Sophie, Peppin Sosai, Shubajyoti Ray, Parimita Routray, Belen Torondel, Wolf-Peter Schmidt, Bishakha Bhanja, and Thomas Clasen. "Promoting latrine construction and use in rural villages practicing open defecation: process evaluation in connection with a randomised controlled trial in Orissa, India." BMC research notes 7, no. 1 (2014): 486.

144 Clasen, Thomas, Sophie Boisson, Parimita Routray, Belen Torondel, Melissa Bell, Oliver Cumming, Jeroen Ensink et al. "Effectiveness of a rural sanitation programme on diarrhoea, soiltransmitted helminth infection, and child malnutrition in Odisha, India: a cluster-randomised trial." The Lancet Global Health 2, no. 11 (2014): e645-e653.

145 Reid, Matthew C., Kaiyu Guan, Fabian Wagner, and DeniseL. Mauzerall. "Global methane emissions from pit latrines."Environmental science & technology 48, no. 15 (2014): 8727-8734.

146 Khanna, Tina, and Madhumita Das. "Why gender matters in the solution towards safe sanitation? Reflections from rural India." Global public health 11, no. 10 (2016): 1185–1201.

147 UNICEF and IRC. Water Sanitation and Hygiene Education for Schools: Roundtable Proceedings and Framework for Action. Available at http://esa.un.org/iys/docs/san_lib_docs/SSHE_ OxfordRoundTable.pdf.

148 WHO. Factsheets on Environmental Sanitation. Fact Sheet 3.1 Excreta Disposal Options. See http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/emergencies/fs3_1/en/, last accessed 1 March 2018.

149 Curtis, C. F., and Peter M. Hawkins. "Entomological studies of on-site sanitation systems in Botswana and Tanzania." Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 76, no. 1 (1982): 99-108.

150 Mara, David Duncan. The design of ventilated improved pit latrines. International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/ The World Bank, 1984.

151 Graham, Jay P., and Matthew L. Polizzotto. "Pit latrines and their impacts on groundwater quality: a systematic review." Environmental health perspectives 121, no. 5 (2013): 521.

152 Graham, Jay P., and Matthew L. Polizzotto. "Pit latrines and their impacts on groundwater quality: a systematic review." Environmental health perspectives 121, no. 5 (2013): 521.

153 Suthar, Surindra, Preeti Bishnoi, Sushma Singh, Pravin K. Mutiyar, Arvind K. Nema, and Nagraj S. Patil. "Nitrate contamination in groundwater of some rural areas of Rajasthan, India." Journal of hazardous materials 171, no. 1–3 (2009): 189–199.

154 Kostyla, Caroline, Rob Bain, Ryan Cronk, and Jamie Bartram. "Seasonal variation of fecal contamination in drinking water sources in developing countries: A systematic review." Science of the Total Environment 514 (2015): 333–343. 155 Bruun, Sander, Lars Stoumann Jensen, and Sven Sommer. "Small-scale household biogas digesters: An option for global warming mitigation or a potential climate bomb?." Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 33 (2014): 736-741.

156 van Dijk, Meine Pieter. "Sanitation in developing countries: innovative solutions in a value chain framework." In Management of Technological Innovation in Developing and Developed Countries. InTech, 2012.

157 Diener, Stefan, Swaib Semiyaga, Charles B. Niwagaba, Ashley Murray Muspratt, Jean Birane Gning, Mbaye Mbéguéré, Joseph Effah Ennin, Christian Zurbrugg, and Linda Strande. "A value proposition: Resource recovery from faecal sludge—Can it be the driver for improved sanitation?." Resources, Conservation and Recycling 88 (2014): 32–38.

158 Cranfield University, "Reinventing the toilet – helping to solve sanitation issues in low-income countries". See: https:// www.cranfield.ac.uk/case-studies/research-case-studies/nanomembrane-toilet, last accessed 5 March 2018

159 Ward, Barbara J., Tesfayohanes W. Yacob, and Lupita D. Montoya. "Evaluation of solid fuel char briquettes from human waste." Environmental science & technology 48, no. 16 (2014): 9852-9858.

160 Rosemarin, Arno, Nelson Ekane, Ian Caldwell, Elisabeth Kvarnstrom, Jennifer McConville, Cecilia Ruben, and Madeleine Fogde. Pathways for Sustainable Sanitation. IWA Publishing, 2008.

161 Thys, Séverine, Kabemba E. Mwape, Pierre Lefèvre, Pierre Dorny, Tanguy Marcotty, Andrew M. Phiri, Isaak K. Phiri, and Sarah Gabriël. "Why latrines are not used: communities' perceptions and practices regarding latrines in a Taenia solium endemic rural area in Eastern Zambia." PLoS neglected tropical diseases 9, no. 3 (2015): e0003570.

162 Coffey, Diane, Aashish Gupta, Payal Hathi, Nidhi Khurana, Dean Spears, Nikhil Srivastav, and Sangita Vyas. "Revealed preference for open defecation." Economic & Political Weekly 49, no. 38 (2014): 43.

163 Coffey, Diane, Aashish Gupta, Payal Hathi, Dean Spears, Nikhil Srivastav, and Sangita Vyas. "Culture and the health transition: understanding sanitation behavior in rural north India." International Growth Centre. Working Paper, April (2015).

164 Sahoo, Krushna Chandra, Kristyna RS Hulland, Bethany A. Caruso, Rojalin Swain, Matthew C. Freeman, Pinaki Panigrahi, and Robert Dreibelbis. "Sanitation-related psychosocial stress: a grounded theory study of women across the life-course in Odisha, India." Social Science & Medicine 139 (2015): 80-89.

165 UN Environment. "Resource Efficiency". Accessed, http:// web.unep.org/resourceefficiency/what-we-do/policy-strategy/ resource-efficient-cities/focus-areas-cities/water-and-sanitation, 3 March 2018. 166 Callow, Patricia. "Building a better toilet." The Journal of Global Health Care Systems 2, no. 1 (2012).

167 Huang, Xiao, Yan Qu, Clément A. Cid, Cody Finke, Michael R. Hoffmann, Keahying Lim, and Sunny C. Jiang. "Electrochemical disinfection of toilet wastewater using wastewater electrolysis cell." Water research 92 (2016): 164-172.

168 Afolabi, Oluwasola OD, M. Sohail, and C. P. L. Thomas. "Microwave hydrothermal carbonization of human biowastes." Waste and Biomass Valorization 6, no. 2 (2015): 147-157.

169 Yermán, L., D. Cormier, I. Fabris, J. Carrascal, J. L. Torero, J. I. Gerhard, and Y-L. Cheng. "Potential bio-oil production from smouldering combustion of faeces." Waste and Biomass Valorization 8, no. 2 (2017): 329–338.

170 O'Connell, Kathryn. "What Influences Open Defecation and Latrine Ownership in Rural Households?: Findings." (2014).

171 Stopnitzky, Yaniv. "No toilet no bride? Intrahousehold bargaining in male-skewed marriage markets in India." Journal of Development Economics 127 (2017): 269–282.

172 Hui, Rebecca, and James L. Wescoat. "Visualizing periurban and rurban water conditions in Pune district, Maharashtra, India." Geoforum (2018).

173 Charles, Katrina (2015). "African Cities aren't keeping up with the demand for toilets." The Conversation. November 19, 2015.

174 Kearns, Gerry. "The urban penalty and the population history of England." (1988): 213–236.

175 Kearns, Gerry, and Charles WJ Withers, eds. Urbanising Britain: essays on class and community in the nineteenth century. Vol. 17. Cambridge University Press, 1991.

176 Alhindi, Adnan Ibrahim H., and Al-louh Mervat. "Trends of intestinal parasites prevalence in the Gaza Strip, 1998–2007: the use of government health records." Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences 43, no. 4 (2013): 652–659.

177 Barreto, Mauricio L., Bernd Genser, Agostino Strina, Maria Gloria Teixeira, Ana Marlucia O. Assis, Rita F. Rego, Carlos A. Teles et al. "Impact of a citywide sanitation program in Northeast Brazil on intestinal parasites infection in young children." Environmental health perspectives 118, no. 11 (2010): 1637.

178 Narracott, A., and G. Norman. "Clean Team, a Humancentred Approach to Sanitation: Initial trials in Ghana." Resource Document. Water and Sanitation for the Urban Poor (WSUP). http://www. wsup. com/resource/clean-team-a-human-centredapproach-to-sanitation-initial-trials-in-ghana/. Accessed March18 (2011): 2014. 179 Barreto, M. L. et al. (2007). Effect of citywide sanitation programme on reduction in rate of childhood diarrhoea in northeast Brazil: assessment by two cohort studies. The Lancet, vol. 370, no. 9599, pp. 1622–28. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61638-9.

180 WSP. "The Missing Link in Sanitation Service Delivery. A Review of Fecal Sludge Management in 12 Cities". Water and Sanitation Programme Research Brief. World Bank/ WSP. Washington DC (April 2014).

181 World Bank. "People practicing open defecation (%) of population." See: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.STA. ODFC.ZS, last accessed 3 March 2018.

182 Hui, Rebecca, and James L. Wescoat. "Visualizing periurban and rurban water conditions in Pune district, Maharashtra, India." Geoforum (2018).

183 Narracott, A., and G. Norman. "Clean Team, a Humancentred Approach to Sanitation: Initial trials in Ghana." Resource Document. Water and Sanitation for the Urban Poor (WSUP). http://www. wsup. com/resource/clean-team-a-human-centredapproach-to-sanitation-initial-trials-in-ghana/. Accessed March18 (2011): 2014.

184 World Health Organization and UNICEF. Progress on drinking water, sanitation and hygiene: 2017 update and SDG baselines. World Health Organization, 2017.

185 World Health Organization and UNICEF. Progress on drinking water, sanitation and hygiene: 2017 update and SDG baselines.World Health Organization, 2017. p15

186 Exley, Josephine LR, Bernard Liseka, Oliver Cumming, and Jeroen H. J. Ensink. "The sanitation ladder, what constitutes an improved form of sanitation?" Environmental science & technology 49, no. 2 (2015): 1086-1094.

187 Mitchell, Cynthia, Monique Retamal, Simon Fane, Juliet Willetts, and Chris Davis. "Decentralised water systemscreating conducive institutional arrangements." Institute for Sustainable Futures, University of Technology, Sydney. Accessed November 10 (2008): 2011.

188 Johnstone, Nick, Libby Wood, and Robert Hearne. The regulation of private sector participation in urban water supply and sanitation: realising social and environmental objectives in developing countries. Environmental Economics Programme, 1999.

189 Rulin, J. (1997). "Collection and disposal of excreta from public dry latrines, household dry pit latrines and bucket latrines in Yichang City China", in Household Excreta: The Operation of Services in Urban Low-income Neighbourhoods, M. A. Muller, ed., Urban Waste Series no. 6. Pathumthani, Thailand: Environmental Systems Information Centre, Asian Institute of Technology (ENSIC-AIT). 190 Lines, Jo, Trudy Harpham, Colin Leake, and Chris Schofield. "Trends, priorities and policy directions in the control of vectorborne diseases in urban environments." Health policy and planning 9, no. 2 (1994): 113-129.

191 Gratz, Norman G., and R. F. Peters. "MosquitoĐborne disease problems In reply to: The urbanization of tropical countries." CRC Critical Reviews in Environmental Control 3, no. 1-4 (1973): 455-495.

192 Calhoun, Lisa M., Melissa Avery, LeeAnn Jones, Karina Gunarto, Raymond King, Jacquelin Roberts, and Thomas R. Burkot. "Combined sewage overflows (CSO) are major urban breeding sites for Culex quinquefasciatus in Atlanta, Georgia." The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene 77, no. 3 (2007): 478–484.

193 WHO SEARO. "World Water Day 2017. Why Waste Water?" Acesssed http://www.searo.who.int/entity/water_sanitation/en/, 3 March 2018.

194 Defra. "Waste water treatment in the United Kingdom – 2012: Implementation of the European Union Urban Waste Water Treatment Directice – 91/271/EEC". Defra, London, 2012.

195 Parkinson, Jonathan, and Kevin Tayler. "Decentralized wastewater management in peri-urban areas in low-income countries." Environment and Urbanization 15, no. 1 (2003): 75-90.

196 Sharma, A. K., G. Tjandraatmadja, A. L. Grant, T. Grant, and F. Pamminger. "Sustainable sewerage servicing options for peri-urban areas with failing septic systems." Water Science and Technology 62, no. 3 (2010): 570–585.

197 WUSP. "What does an enabling environment for sanitation look like?". 11 April 2018. Accessed, https://www.wsup.com/ blog/what-does-an-enabling-environment-look-like-for-urbansanitation/, 11 June 2018.

198 Singh, Shubhra, Riya Rachel Mohan, Sujaya Rathi, and N. Janardhana Raju. "Technology options for faecal sludge management in developing countries: Benefits and revenue from reuse." Environmental Technology & Innovation 7 (2017): 203–218.

199 Ekane, Nelson, Nina Weitz, Björn Nykvist, Petter Nordqvist, and Stacey Noel. "Comparative assessment of sanitation and hygiene policies and institutional frameworks in Rwanda, Uganda and Tanzania." Stockholm Environment Institute (SEI) Working Paper 2016-05 (2016).

200 Wang, Pu, Steven A. Wolf, James P. Lassoie, Gregory L. Poe, Stephen J. Morreale, Xukun Su, and Shikui Dong. "Promise and reality of market-based environmental policy in China: Empirical analyses of the ecological restoration program on the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau." Global Environmental Change39 (2016): 35-44. 201 WUSP. "What does an enabling environment for sanitation look like?". 11 April 2018. Accessed, https://www.wsup.com/ blog/what-does-an-enabling-environment-look-like-for-urbansanitation/, 11 June 2018.

202 Allen, Adriana. "Environmental planning and management of the peri-urban interface: perspectives on an emerging field." Environment and urbanization 15, no. 1 (2003): 135-148.

203 Kaur, R., S. P. Wani, A. K. Singh, and K. Lal. "Wastewater production, treatment and use in India." In National Report presented at the 2nd regional workshop on Safe Use of Wastewater in Agriculture. 2012.

204 Sow, Mariama. "Foresight Africa 2016: Urbanization in the African context." The Brookings Institution (2015).

205 World Bank. "People practicing open defecation (%) of population." See: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.STA. ODFC.ZS, last accessed 3 March 2018.

206 United Nations. "A Case Study on Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation in Uzbekistan and Their Role in Achieving Sustainability of Human Settlements." Accessed, http://www.un.org/esa/ sustdev/csd/csd13/casestudies/case/caseuzbekistanhs.pdf, 7 March 2018.

207 Centre for Public Impact. "India's Total Sanitation Campaign". Accessed, https://www.centreforpublicimpact.org/ case-study/total-sanitation-campaign-india/, 7 March 2018.

208 WaterAid. Accessed https://www.wateraid.org/uk, 11 June 2018.

209 CARE International. Accessed, http://www.careinternational. org.uk/, 11 June, 2018.

210 Thames Water. Accessed, https://www.thameswater.co.uk, 11 June, 2018.

211 Unilever. Accessed, https://www.unilever.co.uk, 11 June, 2018.

212 WSUP. Accessed, http://www.wsup.com/index.htm, 11 June 2018.

213 WSUP (2017). "From pilot project to emerging sanitation service: Scaling up an innovative Public Private Partnership for citywide faecal waste collection in Dhaka. WSUP Topic Brief May 2017.

214 Eriksson, Eva, Karina Auffarth, Mogens Henze, and Anna Ledin. "Characteristics of grey wastewater." Urban water 4, no. 1 (2002): 85-104.

215 World Bank. "People practicing open defecation (%) of population." Accessed, https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ SH.STA.ODFC.ZS, 3 March 2018.

216 Defra. "Waste water treatment in the United Kingdom – 2012: Implementation of the European Union Urban Waste Water Treatment Directice – 91/271/EEC". Defra, London, 2012.

217 UNEP (2008). "Ecological Sanitation". Accessed, http:// www.undp.org/water/initiatives/ecol.html, 11 June 2018

218 Sato T., Qadir, M., Yamamoto, S., Endo, T. and Ahmad, Z. (2013). Global, regional, and country level need for data on wastewater generation, treatment, and use. Agricultural Water Management, vol. 130, pp. 1–13. DOI:10.1016/j. agwat.2013.08.007.

219 Withers, Paul JA, Philip Jordan, Linda May, Helen P. Jarvie, and Nancy E. Deal. "Do septic tank systems pose a hidden threat to water quality?" Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 12, no. 2 (2014): 123–130.

220 Jewitt, Sarah. "Poo gurus? Researching the threats and opportunities presented by human waste." Applied Geography31, no. 2 (2011): 761-769.

221 Saffron, Lisa, Lorenzo Giusti, and Derek Pheby. "The human health impact of waste management practices: A review of the literature and an evaluation of the evidence." Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal 14, no. 2 (2003): 191–213.

222 UK Government. "Water and Sewerage Services". Accessed, https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/water-and-sewerageservices 7 March 2018.

223 EU Council, "Council Decision 2003/33/EC of 19 December 2002 establishing criteria and procedures for the acceptance of waste at landfills persuant to Article 16 of and Annex II to Directive 1999/31/EC." Official Journal of the European Communities 16, no. 2003 (2003): L11.

224 Giusti, L. "A review of waste management practices and their impact on human health." Waste management 29, no. 8 (2009): 2227-2239.

225 Bowman, Sean, Direcus Cooper, David Hooks, Edward Khan, T. Scott Plutchak MA, and Alisha Sledge. "The Edge of Chaos Household Hazardous Waste Disposal II: Prescription Medication in Jefferson County Wastewater Proceedings from the Wicked Problem Discussion 1 April 2015." Proceedings from the Wicked Problem Discussion (2015).

226 Padhye, Lokesh P., Hong Yao, Francis T. Kung'u, and Ching-Hua Huang. "Year-long evaluation on the occurrence and fate of pharmaceuticals, personal care products, and endocrine disrupting chemicals in an urban drinking water treatment plant." Water research 51 (2014): 266–276.

227 Richards, Samia, Eric Paterson, Paul JA Withers, and Marc Stutter. "The contribution of household chemicals to environmental discharges via effluents: combining chemical and behavioural data." Journal of environmental management150 (2015): 427-434. 228 Defra. "Waste water treatment in the United Kingdom – 2012: Implementation of the European Union Urban Waste Water Treatment Directice – 91/271/EEC". Defra, London, 2012.

229 Defra. "Waste water treatment in the United Kingdom – 2012: Implementation of the European Union Urban Waste Water Treatment Directice – 91/271/EEC". Defra, London, 2012.

230 Rockefeller, Abby A. "Civilization and sludge: Notes on the history of the management of human excreta." (1998): 3-18.

231 Giusti, L. "A review of waste management practices and their impact on human health." Waste management 29, no. 8 (2009): 2227-2239.

232 Murtaza, Ghulam, Yawar Usman, Nabeel Khan Niazi, Muhammad Usman, and Tajammal Hussain. "Bioaccumulation of Potentially Toxic Elements in Cereal and Legume Crops: A Review." CLEAN–Soil, Air, Water (2017).

233 Gerba, C.P., Smith, J.E., 2005. Sources of pathogenic microorganisms and their fate during land application of wastes. Journal of Environmental Quality 34, 42–48.

234 Okoh, Anthony I., Timothy Sibanda, Vuyokazi Nongogo, Martins Adefisoye, Osuolale O. Olayemi, and Nolonwabo Nontongana. "Prevalence and characterisation of non-cholerae Vibrio spp. in final effluents of wastewater treatment facilities in two districts of the Eastern Cape Province of South Africa: implications for public health." Environmental Science and Pollution Research 22, no. 3 (2015): 2008-2017.

235 Journal of Environmental Quality 34, 42-48.

236 Health Canada (2000), "Sewage sludge management" in The Canadian Handbook on Health Impact Assessment, Office of Environmental Health Assessment, Health Canada, Quebec, Vol., pp. 197-214.

237 Giusti, L. "A review of waste management practices and their impact on human health." Waste management 29, no. 8 (2009): 2227-2239.

238 Cronkleton, R.A. "Methane gas explosion damages KC wastewater treatment plant." The Kansas City Star, January 4 (2018). See: http://www.kansascity.com/news/local/article192927054.html, last accessed 9 March 2018.

239 Mallison, H., "Dascam footage captures the shocking moment an explosion at a Belgian waste treatment plant blazes in the skies", MailOnline, 27 February (2017). See: http://www. dailymail.co.uk/news/article-3466924/Dashcam-footagecaptures-shocking-moment-explosion-Belgian-wastetreatment-plant-blazes-skies.html, last accessed 9 March, 2018. 240 CBC News: "Explosion, fire, hit Pickering waste water treatment plant". 21 January (2014). See: http://www.cbc.ca/ news/canada/toronto/explosion-fire-hit-pickering-waste-watertreatment-plant-1.2504980, last accessed 9 March 2018.

241 Giusti, L. "A review of waste management practices and their impact on human health." Waste management 29, no. 8 (2009): 2227-2239.

242 Giusti, L. "A review of waste management practices and their impact on human health." Waste management 29, no. 8 (2009): 2227-2239.

243 Saffron, Lisa, Lorenzo Giusti, and Derek Pheby. "The human health impact of waste management practices: A review of the literature and an evaluation of the evidence." Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal 14, no. 2 (2003): 191–213.

244 Aatamila, Marjaleena, Pia K. Verkasalo, Maarit J. Korhonen, Marja K. Viluksela, Kari Pasanen, Pekka Tiittanen, and Aino Nevalainen. "Odor annoyance near waste treatment centers: a population-based study in Finland." Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association 60, no. 4 (2010): 412-418.

245 Giusti, L. "A review of waste management practices and their impact on human health." Waste management 29, no. 8 (2009): 2227-2239.

246 Andersson, K., A. Rosemarin, B. Lamizana, E. Kvarnström, J. McConville, R. Seidu, S. Dickin, and C. Trimmer. "Sanitation, wastewater management and sustainability: From waste disposal to resource recovery." United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya and Stockholm Environment Institute, Stockholm, Sweden (2016).

247 EC Environment. "Reporting on implementation of waste legislation". Accessed, http://ec.europa.eu/environment/waste/ reporting/index.htm, 15 March 2018.

248 EPA. "Biosolids: Decades of Research demonstrate the safety of biosolids". Accessed, https://www.epa.gov/biosolids, 15 March 2018.



About The Rockefeller Foundation

For more than 100 years, The Rockefeller Foundation's mission has been to promote the well-being of humanity throughout the world. Today, The Rockefeller Foundation pursues this mission through dual goals: advancing inclusive economies that expand opportunities for more broadly shared prosperity, and building resilience by helping people, communities and institutions prepare for, withstand, and emerge stronger from acute shocks and chronic stresses. To achieve these goals, The Rockefeller Foundation works at the intersection of four focus areas—advance health, revalue ecosystems, secure livelihoods, and transform cities—to address the root causes of emerging challenges and create systemic change. Together with partners and grantees, The Rockefeller Foundation strives to catalyze and scale transformative innovations, create unlikely partnerships that span sectors, and take risks others cannot—or will not.



About the Oxford Martin School

The Oxford Martin School at the University of Oxford is a world-leading centre of pioneering research that addresses global challenges. It invests in research that cuts across disciplines to tackle a wide range of issues such as climate change, disease and inequality. The School supports novel, high risk and multidisciplinary projects that may not fit within conventional funding channels, because breaking boundaries can produce results that could dramatically improve the wellbeing of this and future generations. Underpinning all our research is the need to translate academic excellence into impact – from innovations in science, medicine and technology, through to providing expert advice and policy recommendations.